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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

To Our Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (“Pan Asia” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Over the past year, repeated outbreaks of the COVID-19
pandemic and geopolitical crisis continued to shadow the
economy of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). In
addition, sporadic production disruptions due to pandemic
control measures, rising energy and raw material costs, and
intensifying market competition created challenges for the
country’s economic development. Nonetheless, with the
government’s supportive policies to assist various industries
and the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions, the PRC was able
to maintain economic growth for the year.

With regard to environmental protection (“EP”), the PRC rolled
out policies and measures to promote its development. As
highlighted in the 2022 Government Work Report, continuously
improving the ecological environment, and promoting green
and low-carbon development are among the key tasks of the
government in the coming years. The government aims to build
a beautiful country by controlling greenhouse gas emissions,
strengthening the treatment of solid waste, and improving
water quality. While the “Dual Carbon” goal of reaching carbon
emissions peaking before 2030 and achieving carbon neutrality
before 2060 remained high on the government’s agenda, tax
incentives have been designed to establish a financial support
system to meet the country’s green targets. Pan Asia will strive
to grasp the resultant opportunities in order to further enhance
its sustainable business development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group generated a total revenue of RMB155.6 million
during the year under review, a surge of 307.7% compared
with RMB38.2 million recorded in 2021. Gross profit leaped
by 579.2% to RMB20.0 million (2021: RMB2.9 million) and the
gross profit margin increased to 12.9% (2021: 7.7%) on the
back of improved efficiency achieved from an enhanced project
portfolio management. Nevertheless, the Group’s other net gain
of RMB21.5 million in 2021 turned into other net loss of RMB5.2
million in 2022, mainly due to net impairment loss recognised
on trade receivables and contract assets for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: net impairment loss reversed of
RMB22.0 million), the Group posted loss attributable to owners
of the Company of RMBO0.9 million (2021: Profit attributable
to owners of the Company of RMB8.3 million). Basic loss per
share amounted to RMBO0.11 cents (2021: Basic earnings per
share of RMB0.99 cents).
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PROSPECTS

In spite of ongoing inflationary pressure, concerns over potential
flare-ups of COVID-19 cases, and intensifying geopolitical
conflicts, the PRC economy is expected to grow gradually and
steadily. Given the government’s directives on accelerating
the development of an eco-friendly and low-carbon circular
economic development system, which is favorable for the EP
industry, the Group remains optimistic about its prospects in
the near future. Going forward, the Group will take proactive
and appropriate steps while leveraging its rich experience and
advanced technological know-how to consolidate and expand
its business.

Early in 2023, the PRC released the white paper “China’s
Green Development in the New Era”, which clearly stated that
the government would unwaveringly promote the construction
of ecological civilization, the realization of higher quality, more
efficient, and more sustainable development, as well as the
creation of harmonious coexistence between humans and
the environment, contributing Chinese experience to promote
global sustainable development. In response to raising demand
for environmental protection bringing forward by the national
policies, the Group will leverage its expertise and resources
to explore new market opportunities and expand its business.
The Group will also strive to look at potential acquisitions and
tap into other industries with high growth potential. The Group
aims to become a highly valuable enterprise, maximizing returns
for shareholders and making positive contributions to the
environment and society.

With respect to broadening its income streams and maintaining
steady business growth, the Group will continue to explore new
market opportunities and diversify its business portfolio. It will
also strive to expand through potential business acquisitions
and by tapping into other industries with high growth potential.
The Group aims to become a highly valuable enterprise,
maximizing returns for shareholders and making positive
contributions to the environment and society.
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board and the management, | would like
to express my heartfelt gratitude to our staff for their total
dedication over the past year. | also wish to extend my
appreciation to the Group’s shareholders for their continued
support, which has enabled the Group to steadily develop
its ongoing EP business and seek strategic investment
opportunities. The Group, as always, will continue to exert
relentless effort to achieve stable growth while delivering long-
term value to shareholders.

Jiang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic continued to cripple the
global economy. To contain the spread of the virus, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) implemented mandatory
quarantines and suspended businesses and production in
many cities, resulting in significant downward pressure on
economic development. As the pandemic eased in December,
the PRC’s State Council issued the “New Ten Measures” to
optimize its pandemic control measures, and various cities
launched a series of policies to resume production and promote
consumption, the economy picked up momentum, driven by
positive economic expectations. The gross domestic product
(“GDP”) of the country increased by 3.0% for the year.

Despite repeated outbreaks of COVID-19 and a slowdown in
economic growth, the PRC placed considerable emphasis on
environmental protection and energy efficiency throughout the
year. The state and ministries and commissions promulgated
a wide range of policies and regulations such as, “Guiding
Opinions on Accelerating the Construction of Urban
Environmental Infrastructure”, “Notice on Strengthening the
Safety of Urban Water Supply”, and “Implementation Plan for
Accelerating the Establishment of a Unified and Standardized
Statistical and Accounting System for Carbon Emissions” to
strengthen environmental protection by improving the efficiency
of energy and resource utilization, reducing air and water
pollution, and contributing toward the achievement of the goal
of carbon neutrality at the peak of carbon production. These
directives, in turn, presented substantial potential business
opportunities for the environmental protection (“EP”) industry.
On the other hand, the EP industry faced multiple pressures
from raw material prices hikes, operation disruptions due to
the sporadic pandemic control measures and further escalated
competition in the industry.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWED T

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of EP products and
equipment, and the provision of EP construction engineering
solutions and services. In 2022, the sale of EP products and
equipment remained the Group’s major source of revenue.
The segment contributed revenue of RMB155.6 million (2021:
RMB37.0 million), accounting for 100% (2021: 97.0%) of
the Group’s total revenue. The Group completed nine water
treatment-related projects. No revenue generated from EP
construction engineering design services (2021: RMB1.1
million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 3 projects on hand
with the aggregate value of work to be completed amounting
to approximately RMB56.4 million (tax inclusive). The Group
expects that the above projects on hand will be completed by
the end of 2028.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total assets amounted to
RMB1,252.6 million, an increase of RMB22.5 million compared
with RMB1,230.1 million in 2021. The Group’s total liabilities
as at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB132.0 million, an
increase of RMB31.6 million compared with RMB100.4 million
in 2021. The Group’s total equity as at 31 December 2022
was RMB1,120.6 million (2021: RMB1,129.6 million), and the
gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the total borrowings
(including corporate bonds) to equity (including all capital and
reserves), was 8.9% (2021: 7.0%). The Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB1,202.7 million as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB1,222.1 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN FOREIGN
EXCHANGE RATES

The majority of the Group’s business transactions and liabilities
are denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group adopted a conservative financial policy and the majority
of its bank deposits are in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any foreign
currency bank liabilities, foreign exchange contracts, interest
or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging
purposes. Nevertheless, the management continues to monitor
the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and will take prudent
measures as and when appropriate. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group did not hold any derivatives for hedging against
interest rate or foreign exchange risks.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any capital
expenditure commitment in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment (2021: Nil). The Group has
provided product warranties to its customers in respect of
certain of its EP products and equipment sold for a warranty
period ranging from six months to two years after installation. At
the same time, the Group has also received product warranties
in respect of those EP products and equipment supplied
from its suppliers. The Directors believe that the amount of
crystalized warranty liabilities will not be significant at the end of
the reporting period.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

There was no pledge of assets by the Group as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 90
employees. Employee salaries were maintained at competitive
levels and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the
relevant labor markets and economic situations. Directors’
remuneration is determined based on a variety of factors such
as market conditions and the specific responsibilities shouldered
by the individual directors. In addition to providing the basic
remuneration and statutory benefits as required by the law, the
Group provides discretionary bonuses based on its results and
the performance of the individual employees. The Group also
has an employee share option scheme in operation. The total
remuneration cost, including Directors’ remuneration, for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was RMB13.0 million (2021:
RMB12.5 million). During the year under review, the Group
organized professional and vocational training for its employees.
The Directors believe that the Group has an admirable
relationship with its employees.
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBME

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present the Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND
STRATEGY

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that
Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term and
that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs with
a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is
committed to maintaining and developing robust corporate
governance practices that are intended to ensure:

- satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

= that high standards of ethics are maintained.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board was committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to
safeguard the interests of shareholders (the “Shareholders”),
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company has in place a corporate governance framework
and has established a set of policies and procedures based on
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
Such policies and procedures provide the infrastructure for
enhancing the Board’s ability to implement governance and
exercise proper oversight on business conduct and affairs of
the Company.

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended
31 December 2022, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for CG
Code provisions C.2.1, F.2.2 and D.2.5, which provides that
the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual,
the Chairman of the Board should attend the annual general
meeting, and the Group should have an internal audit function,
details of which are set out in the sections headed “Attendance
Records of Directors”, “Board of Directors”, “Communication
with Shareholders and Investors” and “Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this Corporate Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Company’s
Securities Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Company’s Securities Dealing Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2022.

The Company’s Securities Dealing Code, no less exacting
than the Model Code, for securities transactions also applies
to all employees who, because of such office or employment,
are likely to possess inside information in relation to the
Company or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of
the Company’s Securities Dealing Code by the employees was
noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the Board
responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced composition
of Executive Director and Non-executive Directors (including
Independent Non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises five members including two
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Jiang Xin, Chairman and member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee

Mr. Guo Jiannan, Chief Executive Officer

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Xuezheng, chairman of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee and member of the
Audit Committee

Mr. Hu Jianjun, member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, chairman of the Audit Committee
and member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this
Annual Report. The relationships between the Directors are
disclosed in the respective Director’s biography under the
section “Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report. Save as disclosed above, there is no relationships
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) between the Board members.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, companies listed on
the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual. Up to 16 March 2023, the Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Jiang
Xin was performed these two roles.

On 16 March 2023, Mr. Jiang Xin ceased to act as the Chief
Executive Officer, and Mr. Guo Jiannan was appointed as
Chief Executive Officer. Since then, the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer have been properly separated and the
Company is comply with code provision C.2.1.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board. The
chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny,
who possesses the appropriate professional qualification, and
accounting and financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for
instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism,
the Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The
Board Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the
Board which will collectively discuss the results and the action
plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all Directors
has completed the independence evaluation in the form of
a questionnaire individually and supplemented by individual
interviews. The Board Independence Evaluation Report was
presented to the Board and the evaluation results were
satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results were
satisfactory.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Non-executive Director of the Company has entered into a
service contract with the Company which is renewable from year
to year until terminated by either party with 3 months’ notice
in writing served on the other side. Each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company is appointed under a
letter of appointment which is terminable by either party with 3
months’ notice in writing served on the other side.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The Company’s Articles
of Association also provides that all Directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy or as addition Director shall hold office only until
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting but
shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such
meeting.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place.

All Directors, including Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

CEEABE

ZERERES

RRABFATERD EARRBRILRBE A
[ - tiT%f% BEEEA—-TRAB—
FERE=ZEAEmAEMNKIL -  ARAEE
VIHRRTEETORBLZEERRE - HZ
REARERN—TRAS—HEL=EADN
EEBATIALLL -

RBARNFMABERRZAR  REEERE
FREL ERRB=2Z2—0NEF (W
SEEABAF=—N=EE - AARRE
METDR=02 —WEFAH) BRE
R WFMAES (BRIERE E%mé
R)ARLB=FHERE R - AR
@%EE@Wﬁﬁm'ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&Fﬁ
RMRRENESTIINEEENENES
HESRERNARBAERBRRE R
I WERAEBNAE LEEEE - H
REERZAE LRERTINEEHES
ABEAEFTEERA -

EXEREEENRE HEMRER

B G AEESE RIBHIAR R NME L E
REEREREEADANER -

ExgEE (NAEEREREEg)HE
BRNEREEEE - ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁwﬁ
EEEEENGER  EEAREE
BH5RIA J«A&E@% ﬁﬂ’ﬁq*ﬁ%ﬁ
&HKM =) 1%/%%}% ©

EREE (BREFATESRBLIFNT
ER)OREFTETREEAIANEEER
Bk MERER  EESRRE R
EAE -

BUFRTEFTAAERRANRAEER
SRASREN R EITE MOEERMH
BB A BEESH R -

ERESHI2EY MRESARRME
BH RAEEERA TRELERRS
RKBUIEXER  ABAQRETHER
B BRABARARE -

15



16

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the
contribution required from each Director to perform his
responsibility to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed
on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall
be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and
meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics
would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Jiang Xin, Mr.
Fan Yajun, Mr. Chen Xuezheng, Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung
Shu Sun, Sunny had attended a training session for Directors
of listed company which was organized by a professional
solicitor firm. All Directors have been provided with relevant
reading materials including legal and regulatory updates for their
reference and studying.
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The record of continuous professional development relating
to Director’s duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2022 are summarized as follows:

CEEABE

BE-T_—_F+-A=1T—HILFE"
ERCEEAMESHANUREERRY
FROFBEIRFRCEHANT

Type of
Training"°®

Directors EF BERNER B
Executive Director HITEE
Mr. Jiang Xin BELE B
Non-executive Director HPITEE
Mr. Fan Yajun SBIRE LA
(resigned on 16 March 2023) (RZEZ=F=A+/"BET) B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTESE
Mr. Chen Xuezheng PRE A& A&B
Mr. Hu Jianjun ARELRE A
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny 2R A A&B
Note: Hiat -
Types of Training 15525
A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A BIEIRFE - BEETRREGHES

seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders
upon request.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, including
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Xuezheng, Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny. Mr.
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness
of the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment
of external auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review the annual financial results and
reports in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 and
the interim financial results and reports for the period ended
30 June 2022 and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditor, engagement of non-
audit services and relevant scope of works, amendments of the
terms of reference in light of the amendments to the Corporate
Governance Code and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice without
the presence of the Executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members
including one Executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Xin, and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Xuezheng, Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny.
Mr. Chen Xuezheng is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

EREEE

EVZEEH-_2REHEK  BR=%2%
VIRTES  ARRBBELL - HEE
EERREHELE - REFEERERE
BgxF-

ERZEESNBRERETNRRNEEEAT
AIFTEIERAR ©

ERZBEENIERERGDEZTS R
ARBNPBEEREREREF - ARERE
KABEEERG - NEEZXIBEMRREE -
SNV E eI G ANNGI =
ERARAMBEHE  AENEHSRELE
HORETETRIELEROZH -

REE-ZZT_—_F+_A=+—HIEHF
B BEREECBRITMAGE @ UEH
BEZ T - —F+-A=1+—RHLFEHD
FEMEEBERREURBE T =

ANAZ T B IR RS EE R
& AREBMKREE - EEBERERE
fl o UAERBRERE « NI RF KA
EAZNBERBEE « NP BRI R ~ B2
TEFERELAE T IFEE - TR0
EVRSTAERT 2 B B BEE] - ARE
HEERATENTETAREERNER
£EH

ERZBENBENTESTESHNEBER
T~ ERSMNER A BN & T AR

FHEES

FHNEZBemUAKEMEAK - BFE—2H
TEZ  AEEEE - R=BBUIFNT
EF AIRSBEEL - HEEXRLENRY
Mk REBRELESFMHEZESER -

FHEZ BN BESETRNERE AT
AIFTH RN -



Annual Report 2022
T FFR

Corporate Governance Report

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and
senior management, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management, and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and the remuneration packages of the Executive
Director and senior management and other related matters.

The remuneration of the senior management (excluding
Executive Director), whose biographical details are included
in section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this
Annual Report, during the year falls within the following bands:
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Number of
Individuals
Remuneration (HK$) il (#T) AR
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t £ 2,000,000/ 7T 1

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration package of Executive Director is also determined
with reference to the Company’s performance and profitability,
the prevailing market conditions and the performance or
contribution of the Executive Director. The remuneration for
the Executive Director comprises basic salary, pensions and
discretionary bonus. Executive Director shall receive options
to be granted under the Company’s share option scheme.
The remuneration policy for Non-Executive Director and
Independent Non-executive Directors is to ensure that Non-
Executive Director and Independent Non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated
to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board
committees. The remuneration for the Non-Executive Director
and Independent Non-executive Directors mainly comprises
Director’s fee which is determined with reference to their duties
and responsibilities by the Board. Non-Executive Director and
Independent Non-executive Directors shall not receive options
to be granted under the Company’s share option scheme.
Individual Directors and senior management have not been
involved in deciding their own remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members,
including one Executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Xin, and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Xuezheng, Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny. Mr.
Chen Xuezheng is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors, reviewing the Board Diversity
Policy and the Director Nomination Policy and assessing the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy
that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors, to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to review the Board Diversity Policy
and Director Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee
considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of
the Board is maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage.
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Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will review regularly the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition and the nomination of
Directors, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity
at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one of members of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least 40% of the members of the Board shall be
non-executive Directors or independent non-executive
Directors;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(D) at least 15% of the members of the Board shall have
more than 3 years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in;

(E) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience.

The Board is committed to improving the diversity of the Board
and wishes to achieve the above objectives by the end of 31
December 2024.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior
management as at the date of this Annual Report:

Board EFE
Senior Management BREER
Other employees Ht{g®
Overall workforce 2EET

The Board is committed to improving greater gender diversity
in the Board, senior management and other employees of
the Group and wishes to achieve at least 16.7% (1) of female
Directors, 0% (0) of female senior management and 26.4% (19)
of female other employees by the end of 31 December 2024.

Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Nomination Committee
is in progress of identifying suitable female candidate(s) for
appointment to the Board on merit against objective criteria.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant
data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy
which sets out the selection criteria and nomination process
and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company
and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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ARABERAEEMEBEMNMERZ T
b TREJIBEAFRAY > AEEE
T(EREFERSAEEE) MIERL
51 :

Female Male

g3 Bk

0% 100%

0 &

0% 100%

0 8

26.4% 73.6%

19 53

22.4% 77.6%

19 66
EESHIRRERESE mAEEER

REFHMEENUERZ UL Y HELEE

CERERREREMES LR
BE-_Z-_WNF+_-_A=1+—HRinplE
BE=P16.7% (14) ~ 0% (04) }26.4%
(19%) °

BEAFHAY REZESLRETE
SEYEEENAEREANRTERES

KB -

B RS B MR L Bl 715 AR R B0

FLHRE  HEREREE -

EERAEK

EEeCRATERZEESTNRE M
NBETFARBIREBEZEE -

ARBDHRMEZRLZBR - HHh&EA
BIRENZEARREEFHTEERKIE
HREFUALRESTQUIFEZEERE B
ERREZENEABUAARRRRBHA
FEEE KBRS TEBHUARESES
MIREMERERESTENEEAG -



Annual Report 2022
T FFR

Corporate Governance Report

The nomination process set out in the Director Nomination
Policy is as follows:

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(if)

(ii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)

(if)

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the Company
of the retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

° Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

° Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

° Requirements of Independent Non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no
change in the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Company’s Securities Dealing Code and
the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings,
the Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of the
Company held during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set
out in the table below:

Audit
Board Committee
Name of Director EERE EFXE EHUZRE
Executive Director HITEZE
Jiang Xin B& 6/6 N/A
T
Non-executive Director FHTEE
Fan Yajun BhE
(resigned on 16 March 2023) (RZE==F
= AT BEE) 6/6 N/A
T
Independent Non-executive Directors BV FEiTEE
Chen Xuezheng BREHK 6/6 2/2
Hu Jianjun HRE 6/6 2/2
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny 2R3 6/6 2/2

CEEABE

EFEHELE
EEEFNEBE_T__F+-_HA=+—H
tifﬁﬁ%fﬁm% e8% EFZE9Y
BRAQRBREANGH L E DT a0
‘|? :
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HERY @AY
Annual
Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Meeting
FMZRE REZRY BRRAFXE
11 1/1 0/1
N/A N/A 0/1
NEH TER
11 1/1 0/1
11 1/1 0/1
1/1 1/1 1/1
FA BKEREFSSHRI TETER

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held
meetings with Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors during the year.

An Independent Non-executive Director has attended general
meeting of the Company to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the view of the Shareholders.

BOARD MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board held six
meetings with active participation of majority directors, either in
person or through electronic means of communication.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes and
office functions, including project management, sales and
leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information
technology.

An on-going process has been established for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
Group. The process involves:

(i) Risk Identification: identify risks that may potentially affect
the Group’s businesses and operations;

(i) Risk Evaluation: consider the impact on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence; and

(i) Risk Management: perform on-going and periodic
monitoring of the risks and ensure that appropriate internal
control processes are in place.

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. Self-
evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division.

The management, in co-ordination with division heads,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment
plans, and monitor the risk management progress, and reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.
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The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Under Code Provision D.2.5 of the CG Code, the Group should
have an internal audit function. During the year, the Group
conducted a review on the need for setting up an internal audit
department. Given the Group’s simple operating structure and
the potential cost burden, it was decided that the Group would
not set up an internal audit department for the time being and
the Board would be directly responsible for risk management
and internal control systems of the Group.

The Company has engaged external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems. The internal
audit function examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and
recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, conducted
an annual review of the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the year ended 31 December 2022, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The
annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal
audit function and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for
employees of the Company and those who deal with the
Company to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with
the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matters
related to the Company.

CEEABE

ERECHERERERAREERSRNE
E-T__HF+A=1+—HLEFEZX
BAEEGREGZESHFELRS -

REBECLEREARTAHNTAENFED.2.5
k- NEBERA NEBEXBE - FA -
AEBRRIAMEZBAANTZETR
Ao ERBIAKEEERBRELBEDN
RAREE  AEBATERTERILAZ
BEZEP] MEFEHERABTAEEN
[\ 3 I O RB B FR AR AR o

ARBERBIINBERABREARTFESZ
DRELHRAREERABEZRRES T
M RERBETTE L EZ - NEEREE
ERAREAERLRAAEEAENERE
KA RAEZZESRTEEERER
NECEHREER -

EEg2ETEHEREURAIERSE
R EBZZBEENB TREE-_F=
“HFt A=t -HLEFEZRBRERER
NREEER (BRME - EERARE
HEFRFEREZ  URRUEFERGANK
KR - FREBEZNCEREMBHRRA
MEZNEUNRBTIEE  ERNMEEE
R e

ARBERIY ST EEEEF AR RS A
- W%?¥&ﬁM$ET LR TE
EITRMARELAREGEINLY

ARBEHERBHEE - HARFREE R
EARNRBRBERNALAREREA
TRAAEZZESRHERARRFHNE
MEERAREFENTETR °

27



28

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open
and available for employees of the Company to report any
suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also make
anonymous reports to the internal audit function, which is
responsible for investigating the reported incidents and taking
appropriate measures. The Company continues to carry out
anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture
of integrity, and actively organizes anti-corruption training and
inspections to ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption and
anti-bribery.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company held
anti-corruption training regularly and briefing to all employees.
There were no non-compliance cases in relation to bribery and
corruption.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements with the support of the accounting and
finance team.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Appropriate accounting policies have also been
used and applied consistently except the adoption of revised
standards, amendments to standards and interpretation.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 3 R

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditor of BE-_ T - —_F+-HA=1T—HLFEM
the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services RARINEZEMEN REMHEBEZ

for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below: BRI R IEBZRB RS0 T ¢
Fees
Paid/Payable
Bft EfEE
HK$
Service Category BRIEXER BT
Audit Services ERZRS 1,430,000
Non-audit Services IEEIZ RIS
— Review of accounts for the period ended —RBEEBE-_T-__FHA=1H
30 June 2022 IFERfIER B 430,000
— Agreed upon procedures on preliminary — B EEREZEENTER
results announcement 50,000
Total st 1,910,000
COMPANY SECRETARY LEWE

The Board appoints Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent as its Company EEERBEANFESERMANILEEST
Secretary in accordance with the Company’s Articles of FHRABAE AR TZERFBELER

Association and in compliance with the requirements of the REE BHEZZ-_ZF+_A=1+—
Listing Rules. Mr. Wan has complied with the professional HIEFE @ REED BT EMAHAES.29
training requirement as set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules RETIBEZELETNRE °

during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Directors may, whenever it think fit, convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting. Extraordinary General Meetings
shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote
per share basis, of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Directors or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
Extraordinary General Meeting to be called by the Directors for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Directors
fail to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only
one location which will be the Principal Meeting Place, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant
to Article 113 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Company’s Head Office at Room 3702, 37/F, Tower One,
Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong or at
the Company’s Registration Office at Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong at least ten (10) business days before the date
of the general meeting and the period for lodgement of such
notices shall commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and shall be at least ten (10) business days in
length.

Shareholders who wish to put forward other proposals at
general meetings may follow the procedures in “Convening an
Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders” set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for business
specified in the written requisition.

R RHEF

BREBEBRRSEAE

BERANREBERZMAIECLIE EF
ARERAEERGHRRRENARE - &
RSN EZFZREBFAELAAA
TRt —RBER(RER—ZAE
E)WEERBRREAE EIRER—RI5 A
FREZSRTFUBH - BEBRKANER
FRAMEEHWERD - MPAEREEE
F A% SRR B K& LABR 3R 75 SR N AT B 9 1A
FIH - MNEEFRKEBHE-+—(21)
HANEEREBRZAT B RKABFE
AE— @2 (EEeH%02) R
HEE  BRABRESREERARAEME
ERFBEERXBRANARMETHEX
}\ °

RBRRAELRHBER

AR EEE ABNEER  BREAQRA
BERMBIE 113G RIF-EEERS
BRZMNALTAESHNEMBNUAR—1F
FUEHEEA LR ERPEBEEENE
FBNCEXEARNTANER (bitA
BEACESEESIRNEHR L —EITIE
3702 ) RARRBEFELESEEHFE
ARAR (MU AEBERIE16RIRRE
TP OI17E)  TRIMEAL GREE
BN BREARNBRREAS EBERHE
EERA (FRIERESHR) - R %258
MHERZER TR RIEEE TR HEE MR
RASBETRBEEN  RTIERZK
RASRITHEBA (10 EZXEB L
MAAAGZEHZEBANTEBREES
HL+(0)EEER -

BRRBRRAE LR RO R AR
e Lt (AR A R RRSRIAR | EH
B RZEBERABNEMELEH
BERHBFRIRE ©



Annual Report 2022
T FFR

Corporate Governance Report

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 3702, 37/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89
Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong (For the attention
of the Board of Directors)

Fax: (852) 3747-8047

Email: info@paep.com.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address, apart from other specified office of the Company,
if any, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

The Chairman was unable to attend the annual general meeting
held on 10 June 2022 due to a business trip. He will use his
best endeavours to attend all future shareholders’ meetings of
the Company.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy. The policy aims at promoting effective communication
with Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging
Shareholders to engage actively with the Company and enabling
Shareholders to exercise their rights as Shareholders effectively.
The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and the results were
satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as
follows:

(a)  Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by
the Company for the information or action of holders
of any of its securities, including but not limited to the
following documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’
report, annual accounts together with a copy of the
auditor’s report and, where applicable, its summary
financial report; (b) the interim report and, where
applicable, its summary interim report; (c) a notice of
meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and (f) a
proxy form.

The Corporate Communication of the Company
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules.

Corporate Communication will be provided to
Shareholders and non-registered holders of the
Company’s securities in both English and Chinese
versions or where permitted, in a single language, in a
timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.
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Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on price
sensitive information, corporate actions and transactions
etc.) and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles
of Association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted
on the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published
on the Company’s website (www.paep.com.cn) under
“Corporate Governance” section.

Other corporate information about the Company’s
business developments, goals and strategies, corporate
governance and risk management will also be available on
the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders.

The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant
information on the resolutions(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably
necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed
decision on the proposed resolution(s).

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meetings.

Where appropriate or required, the Chairman of the
Board and other Board members, the chairmen of board
committees or their delegates, and the external auditors
should attend general meetings of the Company to answer
Shareholders’ questions (if any).

The chairman of the independent board committee (if
any) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction
or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.
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(e)  Shareholders’ Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, via its online holding
enquiry service at www.tricoris.com, or send email to
is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or call its hotline at
(852) 2980 1333, or go in person to its public counter at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters
to be put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company, for attention of Company
Secretary, by email: info@paep.com.cn or mail to Room
3702, 37/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the
Company at (852) 3153 4323 for any assistance.

Note: Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

(f)  Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms

Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic
and international), media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc. will be
launched on a required basis.

Amendments to Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, the Company has amended its
Articles of Association. Details of the amendments are set out in
the circular dated 29 April 2022 to the Shareholders. An up to date
version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company intends to distribute no less than
30% of its annual net profits as dividends to its shareholders.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out in the Dividend
Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the
Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial
year will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval. Such details
have been disclosed in the annual report of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Director

Mr. Jiang Xin, aged 38, is the Chairman of the Board and an
Executive Director. He was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in December 2016.
He was also appointed as the Chairman of the Company in
September 2017 and resigned as a Chief Executive Officer in
March 2023. He is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. He is currently the general
manager of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (“China Rare
Earth”) (Stock Code: 769) (the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). He joined China Rare
Earth in August 2008 and was promoted to the present position
of general manager in August 2012. Mr. Jiang Xin obtained a
bachelor’s degree in arts majoring in international business,
finance and economics from University of Manchester in June
2006 and a bachelor’'s degree in arts majoring in business
studies from University of Wales in July 2008.

Mr. Guo Jiannan, aged 47, is the Chief Executive Officer
and an Executive Director. He was appointed as an Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer in March 2023. He is
currently a director of Guangzhou DSQ Capital Co. Ltd. and
a researcher of Peking University. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree of economic in business administration and master’s
degree of economic in statistics from Peking University in
July 1998 and July 2002 respectively. He further obtained
a doctorate degree of philosophy in economics from The
University of Warwick in April 2008. He passed the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange Independent Director Qualification Training for
Listed Company in December 2016.

Mr. Guo is an expert in industrial economics and industrial
finance. He was a researcher at The University of Warwick from
September 2002 to July 2006, a lecturer at The London School
of Economics and Political Science from September 2006 to
April 2008, an associate professor and supervisor of doctoral
students at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics
from April 2008 to August 2015.

Mr. Guo served as a consultant of Sichuan Provincial
Government and Industrial Fund for a long time, and has a
deep understanding of the industrial development and strategic
layout, as well as strong capital operation and resource
integration capabilities. He served as an expert member of
investment review committee of JinTai Property & Casualty
Insurance Co., LTD, an expert member of professional
committee of Financing Guarantee Association of Sichuan and
a director of Chengdu CST XingChuang Equity Investment
Management Co.,Ltd. since May 2009, May 2010 and May
2016 respectively.
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In addition, Mr. Guo was an independent director of Huaren
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Stock code: 300110) (the shares
of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from
September 2017 to August 2019. He is a professional member
of investment review committee of Chengdu B-ray Media
Co.,ltd. (stock code: 600880) (the shares of which are listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange) and an independent director of Wells
Advanced Materials (Shanghai) Co.,Ltd. (the shares of which are
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) since October 2020 and
September 2021 respectively.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, aged 60, has been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director since December 2007.
He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
He has over 20 years’ working experience in, among others,
accounting, treasury management, budgeting and corporate
finance. He graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a professional diploma in Accountancy and obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from the University
of South Australia. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of Certified General Accountants’ Association
of Canada. From 2005 to 2007, he served as the financial
controller, qualified accountant and company secretary of
Xiwang Sugar Holdings Company Limited (now known as
Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code:
2088), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From 2001 to date, he has been a director
of a company providing accounting, tax and corporate finance
services. From 1999 to 2001, he held key financial position in
a listed company in Hong Kong. From 1998 to 1999, he was
a finance director of a company principally engaged in the
provision of network infrastructure solutions. From 1993 to
1998, he was the financial controller of a company principally
engaged in property investment, trading and securities. From
1987 to 1990, he worked in international accounting firms
handling audit, tax and accounting matters. Mr. Leung has been
an independent non-executive director of Xiwang Special Steel
Company Limited (Stock Code: 1266), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since February
2012. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of China Art Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1572), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 14 October 2016.
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Mr. Hu Jianjun, aged 59, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director since 1 April 2021. He is
a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. He obtained a master
degree of business administration in public sector management
by the University of South Australia in September 2003. He
gained the accreditation as a senior economist from Industria
and Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”) in September 1997
and the qualification as certified financial analyst in the People’s
Republic of China in September 2007. Mr. Hu has over 38
years of experience working in the field of financial industry. He
started his career in Nanchang Branch of the People’s Bank
of China in February 1979. From October 1984 to December
2001, he held various important positions in ICBC. He joined
China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong”)
(a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”); stock code: 2799), previously
known as China Huarong Asset Management Corporation, in
December 2001. He served successively as deputy genera
manager of Nanchang Office, deputy general manager of Xi’an
Office, general manager of Nanchang Office, general manager
of Customer Marketing Department, director of the President
Office, director of the Board Office and general manager of
Beijing Branch. He was appointed as the company secretary
of Huarong in January 2015 and resigned on 14 April 2017.
He was also an executive director of International Business
Settlement Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 147) for the period from 22 August 2017
to 31 August 2020. He is a director of Shunho Cell Biology
Technology (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations; stock code: 833686) since
8 February 2021.
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Mr. Chen Xuezheng, aged 43, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director since 1 August 2021.
He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and also a member of the Audit
Committee. He is an associate professor in the School of
Economics at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics.
He graduated from Xiamen University with a bachelor’'s degree
of economics majoring in international economics and trade
in July 2001, and obtained a master’s degree in international
economics from the University of Essex in September 2004, and
a Master of Philosophy degree in economics and a Doctor of
Philosophy degree in economics from the University of Warwick
in September 2008 and April 2013 respectively. He was a
distinguished associate researcher in the School of Economics
at Sichuan University from 2013 to 2018. His main research
areas include new political economy, institutional economics
and behavioral and experimental economics. He published
five journal papers and several working papers from 2015 to
2019. He has won many awards for research excellence in this
research areas, including the Excellent Paper Award in the 15th
China Young Economists Forum, Outstanding Paper Award in
the 1st China Behavioral and Experimental Economics Forum,
and the 18th Sichuan Province Excellent Achievement Award in
Social Science.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent, aged 49, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Company. He joined
the Group in March 2007 and is responsible for the corporate
finance function of the Group. He oversees matters relating
to financial administration, and compliance and reporting
obligations of the Group. Mr. Wan has more than 25 years’
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wan has worked for a company
listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange as its financial
controller from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Wan is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wan holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

Mr. Cai Xijun, aged 54, is the general manager of Jiangsu
Pan Asia. He has more than 10 years of experience in sales
and project management. He joined the Group in 2000 and
is responsible for project management of EP projects. Before
joining the Group, he was office manager of Yixing Xinwei Group
Company Limited. He graduated from Hufu Middle School of
Yixing City.

Mr. Wu Dongping, aged 40, is the financial controller of
Jiangsu Pan Asia. He has about 15 years of experience in
financial management. He joined the Group in May 2014. Before
joining the Group, he was a finance manager of Yixing AGC
Ceramics Company Limited. He graduated from the Huaiyin
Institute of Technology, majoring in accountancy.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has
its principal place of business in the PRC at Baihe Industrial
Park, Xinjie Street, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC and
has its principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 3702,
37/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sales of EP products
and equipment, as well as undertaking of EP construction
engineering services in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 of this annual
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer SN

Five largest customers in aggregate AARRF 5T
The largest supplier XA HIER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hAHER AT

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) or any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 and the state of the Company’s and the
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 61 to 151.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) as the capital
will be reserved for the development of the Group’s business
operations.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB537,087,000 (2021:
RMB542,511,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the financial year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE BONDS

Details of movements of corporate bonds issued by the
Company are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the financial year are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group, based
on total borrowings (including corporate bonds and amount due
to a related company) to the equity (including all capital and
reserves) was 8.9% (2021: 7.0%).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Director

Mr. Jiang Xin (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Jiannan (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 16 March 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fan Yajun (resigned on 16 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Mr. Hu Jianjun

Mr. Chen Xuezheng

Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny shall retire from
the offices as Independent Non-executive Directors at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting in accordance with article
108 of the Articles of Association. Mr. Guo Jiannan shall retire
from the office as Executive Director at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting in accordance with article 112 of the Articles
of Association.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director or
officer of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs and damages which he may incur or sustain in
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. Such provision is in force during the year under review
and as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the information disclosed in “Material Related
Party Transactions” in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of 2022, and there was no
contract of significance between the Company or a subsidiary
of the Company with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required (a) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register of
interests required to be maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
were as follows:
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Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest
EENS RERME
Mr. Jiang Xin Interest of controlled corporation
BahE RYEH)EE S
Beneficial interest
i

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares. The letter “S” denotes the person’s short
position in the shares/underlying shares.

2. These 356,568,000 shares were registered in the name of and
beneficially owned by Praise Fortune Limited (“Praise Fortune”).
The total number of issued shares in Praise Fortune as at 31
December 2022 was 129,215 shares of US$1 each. Mr. Jiang Xin
held 77,615 shares being approximately 60.07% in Praise Fortune
and was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Praise
Fortune under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so far as
was known to any Director or chief executive of the Company,
neither the Directors nor the chief executive had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme has been expired
on 30 November 2017 and no further share option can be
granted under the Share Option Scheme. All outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme lapsed on 10 June
2022, details of which are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and their movements during the year

ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:

Exercise
Price
per
Date of share
Directors Grant gk
Bz REAH (x|
HKS
AT
Mr. Fan Yajun 11/6/2012 0.83
(resigned on 16 March 2023)
BREEE
(RZBZ=F=R+BET)
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny 11/6/2012 0.83
PRITEE
Continuous contract 11/6/2012 0.83
employees
REGRESR
Total

it

Vesting
Period
REH

11/6/2012 to

=
x

10/6/2013

11/6/2012 to

E

10/6/2013
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E3

10/6/2013

Exercise
Period

s
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E
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11/6/2013 to

=

o,
10/6/2022
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Number of Share Options

BREZA

Exercised/
Cancelled/ Balance
Balance Lapsed as at
as at during  31/12/2022
1/1/2022  Granted the year R
R® during RER —B-Zf
ZE-ZE  theyear Bfff/ T8
-A-H RER BH#/ =t-H
oA 3 ERi BXN a3
2,500,000 - (2,500,000) -
500,000 - (500,000 -
3,000,000 - (3,000,000) -
28,500,000 - (28,500,000) -
31,500,000 - (81,500,000) -




DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company or any of its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company, or
existed during the year under review.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2022, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fail to be disclosed to the
Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Name Nature of interest

&R BinE

Praise Fortune Limited (Note 2)
Praise Fortune Limited (#/:£2)

Beneficial interest
Enikn

Caitong International Asset
Management Co., Limited (Note 3)
MRAREEEEBRAR (Hi23)

Investment manager

RELE
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Notes:

1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares. The Letter “S” denotes the person’s short
position in the shares/underlying shares.

2. The long position in 356,568,000 shares were beneficially owned
by Mr. Jiang Xin, the Chairman and an Executive Director of the
Company and Ms. Qian Yuanying. Mr. Jiang Xin holds 77,615
shares in Praise Fortune, representing approximately 60.07%
in its issued share capital and Ms. Qian Yuanying holds 51,600
shares in Praise Fortune, representing approximately 39.93% in its
issued share capital. Ms. Qian Yuanying is the mother of Mr. Jiang
Xin. Mr. Jiang Quanlong, the spouse of Ms. Qian Yuanying, was
deemed to have interest in the Company.

3. These 250,000,000 shares were beneficially owned by Caitong
Strategic SPC (formerly known as “Avenue Multi-Strategy Fund
SPC”) on behalf of CTI Environmental Protection Industrial Fund
SP (formerly known as “Avenue Multi-Strategy Fund Segregated
Portfolio 1”). Caitong International Asset Management Co., Limited
was interested in these 250,000,000 shares in the capacity of
investment manager.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the
Company has not been notified by any person (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the service contracts of the Directors
or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the
Company, concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

Non-Competition Undertaking

Under the restrictive covenants of a share purchase agreement
dated 1 December 2007 executed among (i) YY Holdings as
vendor, (i) Praise Fortune, Mr. Jiang Xin (current Director),
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (former Director), Ms. Qian Yuanying and
Mr. Jiang Lei (former Director) as covenantors, and (iii) the
Company as the purchaser, each of Praise Fortune, Mr. Jiang
Xin, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Ms. Qian Yuanying, and Mr. Jiang Lei
(collectively the “Covenantors”) has undertaken that he/she/it
will not and shall procure his/her/its close associates will not:

(@)

at any time disclose to any person, or himself/herself/
itself use for any purpose, and shall use his/her/its best
endeavours to prevent the publication or disclosure of, any
information concerning the business, accounts or finances
of any Group company, or any of its clients’, suppliers’
or customers’ transactions or affairs, which may, or may
have, come to his/her/its knowledge;

at any time during which the Company is listed on
the Stock Exchange and for so long as each of the
Covenantors and their respective close associates
collectively hold, whether individually or taken together,
30% or more of the issued shares or is regarded as the
controlling shareholder(s) of the Company under the
Listing Rules or for a period of two years from the date of
the Listing, whichever is the longest period of time:

(i) directly or indirectly solicit, interfere with, employ or
endeavour to entice away from any Group company
with a view to competing with the Group any person
who, to his/her/its knowledge, is now, or has during
the 12 months preceding the date of the share
purchase agreement been, a client, customer,
supplier or employee of, or has been in the habit of
dealing with, any Group company;
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(i) at any time use the name or trading style of any
Group company, or any trademarks or logos or
device similar in appearance to any trademarks, in
the PRC, Hong Kong or any other part of the world,
or represent himself as carrying on or continuing
or being connected with any Group company or its
business for any purposes whatsoever; and/or

(i)  directly or indirectly carry on or be engaged or
concerned or interested in the businesses of (i)
the production of water treatment and flue gas
treatment and solid waste treatment equipment and
components and pipes; (i) the sale and installation
of water treatment and flue gas treatment and solid
waste treatment equipment and pipes; and (iii) the
contracting of water treatment and flue gas treatment
and solid waste treatment projects, being the current
principal businesses of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors has undertaken in favour of the
Company under the share purchase agreement to procure the
provision to the Company of all information necessary for the
enforcement of the above undertaking. Each of the Covenantors
further undertakes in favour of the Company to make a
statement in the annual report of the Company confirming
compliance by it and its affiliates with the terms of the non-
competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement.
The Company has received the confirmation in relation to
compliance by them and their affiliates with the terms of the
non-competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed that he/she/it is not
currently engaged in any business, which directly or indirectly
competes or may compete with the Group’s business.
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Benxi Fanya Environmental Heat & Power Co., Ltd. (“Benxi
Fanya”) is owned as to 49% by Asia Global Tech Group
Limited (‘“AGT (HK)”), and as to 51% by Benxi (Asia) Thermal
Technology Company Limited (“Benxi Asia”) (beneficially owned
as to 90% and 10% by Ms. Qian Yuanying (the spouse of
Mr. Jiang Quanlong) and Mr. Fan Xinyang (son of Mr. Fan
Yajun)). AGT (HK) is beneficially owned as to 54%, 18%, 18%
and 10% by Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang Xin
(both of whom are sons of Mr. Jiang Quanlong) and Mr. Fan
Xinyang respectively. The permitted business scope on the
business licence of Benxi Fanya includes, among others, heat
supply, electricity generation, operation and construction of
pipeline. As at the date of this annual report, Benxi Fanya was
principally engaged in generating electricity and heat, and was
not engaged or interested in any businesses which compete
with the current principal businesses of the Group. Jiangsu
Tianyuan Technologies Limited (“Jiangsu Tianyuan”) is owned
by the associates of Mr. Fang Guohong, a former Executive
Director of the Company who resigned on 25 March 2009. The
permitted business scope on the business licence of Jiangsu
Tianyuan includes, among others, research and development
of denitrification EP equipment and technology, manufacture
of FGD EP equipment, desulphurization absorption tower
and flue glass flake anticorrosive material and denitrification
EP equipment. As at the date of this annual report, Jiangsu
Tianyuan was principally engaged in the business of producing
thermal insulation components, and was not engaged or
interested in any businesses which compete with the current
principal businesses of the Group. The permitted scope of
business of each of Benxi Fanya and Jiangsu Tianyuan is
relatively wide, but it is not unusual for a corporate entity
to provide for a broader scope of business in its corporate
documents to allow for flexibility. At present, neither Benxi
Fanya nor Jiangsu Tianyuan has any plan to vary their
respective business licences to exclude or alter the permitted
activities as set out therein.

Under the restrictive covenants of several service agreements
dated 1 December 2007 between the Company and each of the
Executive Directors, the Executive Directors gave undertakings
similar to the wordings stated in paragraph (b) above of the said
share purchase agreement.
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ESEEHRE

The Independent Non-executive Directors shall review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with the non-competition
undertaking by each of such persons on their existing or future
competing business and the Company shall disclose the result
of such review either through the annual report of the Company,
or by way of announcement to the public. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed the
compliance by each of such persons with the non-competition
undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As the controlling shareholders namely, Praise Fortune, Mr.
Jiang Xin (current Director), Mr. Jiang Quanlong (former
Director), Ms. Qian Yuanying and Mr. Jiang Lei (former Director)
have given non-competition undertakings in favour of the
Company and none of them has interests in other businesses
that compete or are likely to compete with the business of
the Group, the management and operation of the operating
entities are independent from each other. The Directors are of
the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its business
independently of the controlling shareholders.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 152 of
the annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The retirement schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries
are primarily in form of contributions to the Hong Kong
mandatory provident fund and China statutory public welfare
fund. Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or the exercise of any rights (including entitlements to
any relief of taxation) in relation to the shares, they are advised
to consult an expert.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information on Directors are as follows:

1. Mr. Jiang Xin was resigned as Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 16 March 2023.

2. Mr. Guo Jiannan was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer in each case with effect from
16 March 2023.

3. Mr. Fan Yajun was resigned as Non-executive Director
with effect from 16 March 2023.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited. Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Jiang Xin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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]

_

Ascenda CACFET

R R F

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE

MEMBERS OF PAN ASIA ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 61 to 151, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

10/F Tien Chu Commercial Building
173 Gloucester Road

Wanchai Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. Our description of how our audit addressed
the key audit matter identified in our audit in relation to the
revenue recognition relating to sales of goods is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

B R RETRE

FAREZEH

RBEZERSNZEE 2 EXH T -
BERARGAMBERRTRERNEA -
ZEFRNAZBENE LR EBRSMBR
KEHABRRETRE - ARBETE
HZETREHRERER - AHEENE
ZaNAEEES] ESEAHEEMEE
Z WA TER B BRI R E R EIRN
HEERRULLFRER

AZBMEEITARSE [ZBEMBEZEE
BHmicEE] Sz EE - B
BERZEERZEME - Bt - AREEH
BRBREFNNT  RFEFIREY
AIZ BN S 4R & IS TR A R PRk [
REVFH AT RET - ARBEINEXIZFA
R(BERBEATEERMATOERF) B
AZBENRBE AR A M HRERNEZER
hEft T EAE

53



54

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AN RS

Impairment of the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets

BEFEKESHEREEEEHRE

Refer to notes 2(1)(i), 2(h), 2(i) and 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures
of the related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 17 and 31(a) to the consolidated
financial statements for further information.
BEFEREHAESIIE - HET RIS HIRBEF2MH G S HBEREMZ2(00) ~ 2(h) ~ 2() R 32(a) - #— 2 EHBFLH
REBEHEMF17XR31(a)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit

Key Audit Matter Matter

HAEFREN FRBGHEZNMMEENEFEZER

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade Our procedures in relation to management’s
receivables and contract assets was approximately impairment assessment on the Group’s trade

RMB32,612,000 and RMB13,632,000 as at 31 receivables and contract assets included, among
December 2022, net of impairment losses of others, the followings:

approximately RMB5,067,000 and RMB846,000. AR EEEY BEBREKEZHERER
RZZEZZF+=ZA=+—0 ' BEEBZEKEZHE BEMNRENGERITNREFEFE (HPEKE)
kaREERTE (KNRBREBELQARES067,000

TTHA K% 846,0007T) £ /4 AR 32,612,0007TH A e Understanding the design, implementation

R #13,632,0007T ° and operating effectiveness of the Group’s
key controls over credit control, debt
The assessment of impairment of trade receivables collection and impairment assessment under
and contract assets under the expected credit loss the ECL model;
(“ECL”) model requires the application of significant s B ESENREHEEEBEEAXT  HEE
judgement and estimates by management. The ECL =) BEFWE RREF AN EEEE R
on trade receivables and contract assets are assessed 5t B REERRRK
individually for debtors which are credit impaired and
collectively using a provision matrix. ° Evaluating the reasonableness and
TEHEEREE (BHEEEE]) BEX THRWE 5518 appropriateness of the information used by
FeEREERBEN GEREEERERENHE RGE - the management to develop the provision
BREZHEREREENTEHEEBENIREEGEE matrix including ageing analysis of trade
BB R EISAE R M E B B = 88 T UART S o receivables and contract assets, on a sample
basis, by comparing individual items in the
Management also considered forward-looking analysis with the relevant sales invoices;
information that may impact the customers’ ability to s MWMEFEEEESEREERAER (BT
repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate KRB SRIEREREENRRSIT) 2618
the expected credit losses for the impairment MREEY - FEREZAITHE(EE B BEAE
assessment. FATHE B REITIL S

EEENEEARTETL RMEREHR ZERE DA
AR - CETTREN GG TEREREEE -

The Group recognised net impairment loss on trade
receivables and contract assets amounting to
approximately RMB4,918,000 and RMB299,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

EEEREE T _—F+_A=+—HLLFEERE
WE AN a REEREBRFRNARE4918,000
TLHIA R #299,0007T °



Annual Report 2022
T CFFR

Independent Auditor’s Report

B R RETRE

Impairment of the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

BEEFEKESHEREFEEHRE (&)

Based on the management’s assessment on the
impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
under the ECL model, the management concluded that
the impairment loss on trade receivables and contract
assets was adequate as at 31 December 2022.
ERNEREERBEEACEBEEABRKESFIALA
REERENTG  BEEERR RZT__F+_-A
=t—HRAZERRESHERGREERESFEBERE

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
higher degree of estimation uncertainty and the
subjectivity in management’s judgement involved in
determining the expected loss allowance of the trade
receivables and contract assets.
HRERSNEFTHABEREREREEETRKE 5 RE
REREERMBRBEGER NI HE - AREAER
e RBERERZEE -

Assessing the reasonableness of
management’s judgement and estimates
in determining impairment loss on trade
receivables and contract assets as at
31 December 2022 by examining the
information used by management, including
review of management’s identification of
trade receivables and contract assets with
credit impaired, testing the accuracy of the
historical default data, evaluating whether
the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information,
and examining the actual impairment losses
recorded during the current year;
AEEREEERN _T__F+_-A=+—H
JEWE 5B N A R & ERERE 2 HE &
e HEARBEEREMAER 8
REREUEERERKESTIERGREE
BV R Rl Ev iR A RSB EE N BUREER -
A AT BB X ERIRE AIEM R K AT T
BRERAE  URBERFEANFENER
BB

Recalculating the impairment losses on trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31
December 2022; and

BN B —F+-A=t—HzEKES
FEREREEREEBE &

Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables by the
customer after the end of the reporting
period.

ERMEEE  REREHREFERKE SN
A2 GBS -
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Revenue recognition relating to sales of goods

BEHEmHENRAER

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the significant accounting policies in note 2(q) to

the consolidated financial statements.

FLHGE R BREN T4 RBERGEE N FIREN i 2(Q)r9E B2 B

Key Audit Matter
ARERER

A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue was
derived from sales of environmental protection (“EP”)
products and equipment.

BEEEABIRARBHERRE ([RFR]) EmLRE -

For sales of EP products and equipment, the amount
of revenue recognised during the year is dependent
on the point in time the transfer of the control of the
goods from the Group to the customers.
HHERREMNARRBEN S FABERNBACERT
EmiEt#aAEEERE R PR EEME

We selected this as key audit matter because there
is a significant inherent risk over the recognition of
revenue by the management to meet specific targets
or expectations and the significance of revenue in the
context of the consolidated financial statements.
ARBMERLERERERFR  BREEBRRME
FEBRRFEHMBERRAFEERBEE AR - ARK
ANEGZEMBEHRRPHERIE -

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

FRBMAHBZNMEERRERER

Our procedures in relation to the Group’s revenue
recognition of the sales of goods included, among
others, the followings:
RixgiRist EXEHEHEEmOBRABRIAITH
BEEE(ETEeRE) :

e  Obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls over the revenue recognition
including the control over recording work
done, invoicing and cash receipts;

o THRIYME SEEEARARAERHBEEAE
EHINRET BELESANYE - BREHLHR
BT IHE - HRERRSWARIZES

e Checking, on a sample basis, the terms set
out in the sales contracts and assessing
whether the control of the goods had been
transferred to the customers by the review of
delivery notes and customers’ acceptance;

s MEMEHESRPHEINNGER  WHBBAEH
REEREFHBBFTHEREHERTEE
BERPF

° Inspecting sales contracts, on a sample
basis, to assess whether management
recognised the related revenue in
accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies, with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards; and

s MBEBEHESR  2ERTEHERNRE
N EREELSERR BEXENGTBURE
RAEBUWA - K

e Testing of samples of revenue related journal
entries on a sample basis and by inquiring
management of their nature and also
validating the samples selected to supporting
documents.

o MBEAIRAEARANZEIEELR  RMERE
AMEME  WBRIEMERNKRANAZTAX
f& o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Wing Ip.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 March 2023

Lai Wing Ip
Practising Certificate Number P0O7296
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other net (loss)/gain

Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Finance costs

Profit before taxation

Income tax expenses

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year
Item that will not be reclassified
to profit or l0ss:
- Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements
to presentation currency

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year attributable to owners of
the Company

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted

A
HEMAK

7

Hofth W ot

Hit (B1R),/ K FHE
HERDHEFAX
—RRITREX

FRIRATE R

FfSBiR X

ELRHAAREER
(BR),/i@F

FARMRZE (HR) ka

BTEEHTEE
Rat ZEH -
- BMEMHRRE
2NEMELYL
EHEE

FLTHBABRGFEARE
(B])/haeR

sk (ER), 27

The notes on pages 67 to 151 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BE_T-—_F+-_A=1+—HILFE
2022 2021
—E-- B
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BtsE AR%TR ARETT
4 155,568 38,158
(135,544) (35,210)
20,024 2,948
5 4,459 4,358
6 (5,217) 21,545
(912) (5632)
(15,343) (7,160)
7(b) (2,855) (2,869)
7 156 8,300
8 (1,055) -
(899) 8,300
(8,087) 2,229
(8,986) 10,529
RMB cents RMB cents
AE%S ARES

18
(0.11) 0.99

67 AR 151 B Z B ARG S I EHRE
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62 Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR R

2022 2021
e T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MisE AR®TT ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEIE
Property, plant and equipment W - RE REE 14 292 493
Right-of-use assets FERAEEE 15 360 1,048
Deferred tax assets FEETIBE E 22(b) 1,478 =
2,130 1,541

CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Trade and other receivables FEUNE 5 & H M 5108 17 47,778 6,456
Cash and bank balances B KIRTTA R 18 1,202,701 1,222,063
1,250,479 1,228,519
CURRENT LIABILITIES mE &R

Trade and other payables FERTE 5 R HALFIR 19 81,551 55,084
Corporate bonds NGIIEESS 21 - 25,522
Lease liabilities HERE 20 354 751
Tax payable FER TR IR 22(a) 2,533 =
84,438 S Sor
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE 1,166,041 1,147,162

TOTAL ASSETS LESS HE&ER
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEE{E 1,168,171 1,714, 708

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBDEFE
Corporate bonds NEES 21 47,540 18,762
Lease liabilities MEEE 20 - 324
47,540 19,086

NET ASSETS BERE 1,120,631 1,129,617
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R

CAPITAL AND RESERVES B & B 6 0
Share capital N
Reserves &

TOTAL EQUITY EoWE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 61 to 151 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
29 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Xin BE Guo Jiannan

Director FE

The notes on pages 67 to 151 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

Note
iz

23
24

REFE

2022 2021
—BCCH —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
78,073 78,073
1,042,558 1,051,544
1,120,631 1,129,617

S

N—=—

=F=ZAZThB#E

RIRETEFEC1EE161 2R MBR
RIATINEERRESE :

Director

BES
EF

F67EE151 A Z B AGAE M EHRE

Z—#5 -
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERREEFRDTF

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EXNCE EPN '
Enterprise Statutory
expansion surplus Share
Share Share Special reserve reserve Translation option Retained
capital premium reserve i EE reserve reserve profits Total
k* Riham RHRR WERR EBER EREE BRERE Gaad an
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABEFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT
(Note 23) (Note 24(i) (Note 24(i) (Note 24(iv)) (Note 24(iv) (Note 24(v)) (Note 24(vi)
(HizE23) (Wstoan)  (Mardm)  Omstoaie)  (Woaw)  (Mitoaw)  (BEdm))
As at 1 January 2021 R-E--%-8-A 78,073 466,844 94,225 1,308 1,302 (6,247) 6,640 476,948 1,119,088
Profit for the year Rt - - - - - - - 8,300 8,300
Other comprehensive income £t 2 EkE
- Exchange differences - RERBRRE
on translation of 2hEREE
financial statements to JERER
presentation currency - - - - - 2,229 - - 2,229
Total comprehensive income ~ ERZENHEE
for the year - - - - - 2,229 - 8,300 10,629
Transfer to retained profits upon  RERELRAES
lapse of share options ERBER = - - - - - (224) 24 -
As at 31 December 2021 RZB=-%
and 1 January 2022 TZA=t-Bk
“E2--E-f-B 78,073 466,844 94,225 1,308 1,302 (4,018 6,416 485,472 1,129,617
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - (899) (899)
Other comprehensive income 12 ERE
- Exchange differences - AEEBARE
on translation of SyEREE
financial statements to JEREE
presentation currency - - - - - (8,087) - - (8,087)
Total comprehensive loss EREEBRLEE
for the year - - - - - (8,087) - (899) (8,986)
Transfer to retained profits upon  RERELREEH
[apse of share options EREET - - - - - - (6,416) 6,416 -
As at 31 December 2022 RZE--F+-A=1+-R 78,073 466,844 94,225 1,303 1,302 (12,105) - 490,989 1,120,631
The notes on pages 67 to 151 form part of these consolidated F67EE151 B2 Wi BAGA BT
financial statements. Z— 5 e




Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net impairment loss recognised/
(reversed) on
— trade receivables
— contract assets
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Interest expenses
Interest income

Changes in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables

Cash used in operations

PRC Enterprises Income Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities
Interest received
Payments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments

Net cash generated from
investing activities

Annual Report 2022
T CFFR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Note
BisE

#EED
BRER AT A

HE

ME - BEREE

ZIE 7(c)
FREEECIE 7(c)
BR/(BE&E)

REBEFE 6

- B E 558

- &REE
HEME - BER&E

2B 6
FERZ
B HA 5

FERRED

A 5 R A (00,
W

B E S REHELN
(B2

BREXBFRAZCES

ENTEEEMAEHR

BETBRAZ
BReBR

RRED
EWFI S
BEME - BERRENRK

HEME BB RREAR

BNHREFEMGHA

RREDEEZ
ReBl

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_ZT_—_#+_-_A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
156 8,300

227 530

752 729
4,918 (21,790)
299 (248)

- 493

2,855 2,869
(4,324) (4,347)
4,883 (13,464)
(46,519) 57,400
9,498 (51,350)
(32,138) (7,414)
- (2,521)
(32,138) (9,935)
4,324 4,347
(22) (©)

- 86

4,302 4,428
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERREEFRDTF

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2';;'_— AN L=

2 =] Iﬁﬁlﬁii

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

Financing activities

Advance from a related company

Interests paid on corporate bonds

Redemption of corporate bonds

Repayment of advance from a related
company

Settlement of lease liabilities

Direct cost incurred for renewal of
corporate bonds

Net cash generated from financing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

Analysis of the balance of cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 67 to 151 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

MRED
RE BB AR 25K
ENRBESFHE

NEEFERELY

MEIHEEZ
HeH

ReRERARENA
(@D),/ BmBHE

FMZHER
FRH&ME

SMEERERZ
L2 24

FRZASR
FRAA&ME

HeRkERARENA
"ESH
R RRITHEER

2022 2021

—E-_C —E-—F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
(i ARBTT ARETT
34 13,517 12,500
21, 34 (2,772) (2,688)
21, 34 (855) -
34 (625) (1,130)
15, 34 (821) (796)
21, 34 - (87)
8,444 7,799

(19,392) 2,292

1,222,063 1,219,778

30 (7)

1,202,701 1,222,063

18 1,202,701 1,222,063

67 BE151 B ZMEBALRE M B HRE
SR/ o



Annual Report 2022
T CFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section to this annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sales of
environmental protection (“EP”) products and equipment,
and undertaking of EP construction engineering services
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and
investment holding.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO”). These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

—REHR

RERFREBERAR ([ARAE])
RASHSEMKL A —MEHRL
BRAR EROHNEEBEARS
PIERAR ([BRA) ET - AR
BlZaEMBERE R T BE XM
HRBRANFR I ARER]—H -

ARBEREKE AR (A THREIA
S8 ETERERRFRE ([REFR])
EmhREZHEE EFEARHK
ME ([ B ) ARRFRERTRER
BRI EER »

FESITEE
a) <SFHEH

HEFEEMBHRREREETE
SRR ([FEGEQ
g EMZAEERE BN
HELA(TEEHBHREE
1) (HBEmEERZ @
RIBERBYBHRELED FESR
AHER(TEE G ER ) K@
BoGHE) ZTELTERMNG
AR A K8 R & B R B R
(TReM&EE ) 2 BRBBERE
MmamE o FHEE M BEHRE I
ETBE R PR £ AR AN ([ £
MRADZEREERTE ° &
SERMZEBESTHRKE
LN

TR ASERMAETH
RIRREREEM G REE
A GRAKE 2 A HME
BRAERH A IR R IRA - M
AU T AMBEAEAZE
TR MG F R A MR
RAFMRBROAEENAGE
HE e E e RIS
AABREFHNER -
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is the historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 32.

2.

TESHEE ()

b)

REMBBRIERERE

BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—
BIEFESAMBEREBIER
Nal kEKBRAR 2R
%O

RAMIERR ZMETI AR
RAIERTEREE - EETER
TRAURFEFERINET
X EFTBORPTRE) -

RENEBRMBREERZ
mAEMBmRE  BEEERE
e - R AR ZEH
B - AET RRRE SRR
FERNRAEHREE - AfF -
WAMS hz @ BEBERTE -
ZEHA RABRRIIIRE S
ERBEERBEXBR B
BEZZHEAMAERMEDL -
HERERBAE REEBE
R REE 2 BERBBZER
EECER BRERTEE
BIREZF b5t o

ZE R RAERR R E
ERETIRE - HEFHHAHE
GICHLRRCIERNEEZ F35
A AMERI @ RMERT At 2 4
RHER - KA RRETRKF
SERNRREE - BERE
&7 AR BoR SR A R

EEEERAENRE MR
RBREAFE BBV H
ERERNE AT 2 HET - AR
AR THEEZEEZRR - &
FEMIFES2A AT °



Annual Report 2022
T CFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset, or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(f)(ii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

2. FESHEE (&

c)

o) PN

MEBARESASEZEHZE
B-EARAEEARKEZERZ
HERMSTELRE - BF
ENEBEBEBCENTE
EASCIES LSRN S b2y 7
B o NPT HHEE - R
SEREMALHAZEE N
RFFEER -

T KSR B 2 5 B e 1 il A
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HBERFE2HEAE KERARX
SEL 2 REHRER  HiK
O REE AR BRI 2T
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(f)(ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives.

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements 1 year to 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Machineries 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

2.

TESHEE ()

d)

e)

X - BERRE

ME - BE K R AR AR,
TR R ERIAZFRE
EBRERGA P BRRERIE
(RBtEE2(0(0)) °

WE - BEREFEEE ER
BARRIRE B 5 AT 8 A 5 B
mEZ A RBRER(H) A
MEHERANERTENE -

A RERBE  AF
MEYEREE ~ —EAF
e HeE
e +

EEME BERREZIE
MABTRZAERES - 1t
HBBWMY 2RAKIZAEE
BB - TEED HEERIT
E-BEZAERFHRER
HREE(WE)ESFETR
aq e

HmpERHENE  BE LR
IR E MES 2 Wk B R T
BERNEMSHRIAFHEEZ
BEZHRHEMRZZZE I
RBRELHEE AN IR A FE

A

HEEE

RIZARE - AEEFGEZA
FECBRNHEXBSHE -
MRERETRMARERX
BMEX -BHAZEHEER
BENERNEN  AIZER
BRHEXBEEHE - BEFF
BRETECIHEENERR
BRECERTERETMEDN
BN R - RIRRER S
o



Annual Report 2022
T CFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a /lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(f)(ii)).

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

f)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

/) Credjt losses from financral instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(h)).

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities measured at FVPL,
equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling) and derivative financial assets, are
not subject to the ECL assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_ZT__F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Crediit losses from financial /nstruments and
contract assets (Continueq)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Creadit /losses from financial instruments anad
contract assets (Continueq)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

= 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_ZT__F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Credit losses from financial instruments anad
contract assets (Continueq)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date
with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following
information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

= an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

= an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’'s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Creadit /losses from financial instruments anad
contract assets (Continueq)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(q)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

2. FEETEE (&)

) FEBEREERE(HE)

J

KEEMTAREEE
ENEEERE (&)

EERBRARE LT (&)

?E?%%ﬂlﬂél’]li%’“ﬁﬁ
S E R B KR LT
E’J.:HEE&TI%'J B
HEEEETT o TR
REARAEELET &
BTRAZARNEE
2 B R 2 (a8 HR KO
)SZFEH BEPAR)ETSD
o

BHEEBERSHRE
HEETTEMNTE - N
Jiﬁﬂ%/i\ﬁﬁlﬂé?ﬂ*ﬁ@
wARMEERR 2
@J BHEEEEEZR
B {A] 2 B 39 10 48 =5 B
RAFBERRLEE -
AEBERAEERMIA
3R ﬂfﬁ”ﬁl EXE??E\ .
WiBBEREERER
FREEELAREREE -

SHER B WA B E A

B 4% B 5E 2 (q) (i) HE R &Y
FEWRATZREMEE
AR EE @ BRI
ZeMEAEHREERR
B RUBERT @ &
AR S & = H 5
RS (B 48 BR T (B Rk BT 18
BB E

REREEH  AKEH
FEEMEEREGLR
EERE - WMEL—E
XZBEHMEERT
*Kfﬁi/mgﬁﬂ_*lj
ENFEN - eREER
HIREERE -



Annual Report 2022
T CFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_ZT__F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Crediit losses from financial /nstruments and
contract assets (Continueq)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

= significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
or

= the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or contract asset is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-—T-——

=

2.

Fr+-A=1T—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

f)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

)

Impairment of other non-current assers

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;
right-of-use assets; and
investments in subsidiaries in the

Company’'s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHHEER(E
(Continued)
f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets f) GFEBFBEREEREGE)
(Continued)
i) Impairment of other non-current assets ) Bt mEEERE
(Continuea) (#&)
Recognition of impairment losses — MWRREERE
An impairment loss is recognised in profit BEEEXEMB
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, ZHREEEENZ
or the cash-generating unit to which it FREEBEARETK

belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of
cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable)
or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

h)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(q)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(f)() and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 2(i)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note 2(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h)

)]

k)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(Continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(q)(iii)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset (see note 2(h)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(f)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings (including corporate
bonds) are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see
note 2(s)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2. FESHEE(E)
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)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

m)

n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy set out in note 2(f)(i).

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction from the proceeds.

Employee benefits

/) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Employee benefits (Continued)

)

1)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in share option
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date using the binomial option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the share options, the total estimated
fair value of the share options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only
due to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share
capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

P)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities
on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

P)

a)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, and the provision
of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing component if
the period of financing is 12 months or less.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

q) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

J

)

Sales of goods

The Group provides installation services for
the sales of EP products and equipment. The
goods or services are highly related that the
Group would not be able to fulfill its promises
by transferring each of the goods or services
independently. Thus, the installation services
which are bundled together with the sales of
EP products and equipment are not considered
to be distinct. Revenue from sales of goods are
recognised when the control of the assets has
been transferred to the customers, which is
usually upon completion of the installation and
on-site testing.

A receivable is recognised by the Group when
the customers have accepted the goods and
the related risks and rewards of ownership as
this represents the point in time at which the
right to consideration becomes unconditional,
as only the passage of time is required before
payment is due. Customers have no right to
return the goods once accepted.

Design services

Revenue from design services in the contract
is recognised when the customer takes the
possession of and accepts the design work
performed.
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e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

q) Revenue and other income (Continued)

)

/nterest /ncome

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
assets (see note 2(f)(i)).

Government granits

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.
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e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand
except for per share data, which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) as the majority of the Group’s transactions is
denominated in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge
a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was determined.

The results of those entities within the Group
which have a functional currency other than RMB
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r

s)

t)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of any of such entities, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
i has control or joint control over the

Group;

ii. has significant influence over the Group;
or

ii. is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

t)

Related parties (Continued)

b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

Vi

Vi,

viii.

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in note 2(t)(a).

A person identified in note 2(t)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

t)

u)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s Chief
Executive Officer, who is the Group’s chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to

HKFRS 16

Amendments to

HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use

Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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REVENUE

Revenue represents the fair value of the amounts received

and receivables for goods sold, and services rendered,
which excludes value-added and other sales taxes, and is
after deduction of any goods returns and trade discounts.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
during the year are as follows:

Segment

2

Types of goods or services o B R 955 4

Sales of goods EmHE

— Water treatment products - KEEEm
and equipment B

Timing of revenue recognition B AT 2 R

A point in time R

Segment

ok |

Types of goods or services RESRBEER

Sales of goods EmiHs

- Water treatment products - KEEER
and equipment B

Design services Rt BR

Total Bt

Timing of revenue recognition 9N +bd =]

A point in time R

4. WA

WAERHE Em LR HRSE DK
NEKREN R FE  ETBEE
EREEMBHEER AR TM
REREZHM -

FAXRERFPARZKWAMDIAT :

2022

- - oot -

EP construction

EP products engineering
and equipment services Total
BREGRERF BRERIEERE gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®%TR AE®%TR AR®RTR
155,568 - 155,568
155,568 - 155,568

2021
T

EP construction

EP products engineering
and equipment services Total
BREGREE RRERIRERS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
37,013 - 37,013
- 1,145 1,145
37,013 1,145 38,158
37,013 1,145 38,158
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

4.

REVENUE (Continued)
Information about the Group’s performance obligation
Sales of EP proaucts and equjpment

The performance obligation is satisfied when the control
of the EP products and equipment has been transferred
to the customers, which is usually upon completion of
the installation and on-site testing. The trading terms with
customers are mainly on credit and payment in advance
is normally required from customers. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period. Warranties associated with the sales
of EP products and equipment cannot be purchased
separately and they serve as an assurance that the
products and equipment sold comply with agreed-upon
specifications.

Des/ign services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the customer
takes the possession of and accepts the design work
performed. Payment is generally due upon acceptance of
the design work by customers.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts with
customers such that the Group does not disclose
information about revenue that the Group will be entitled
to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations
under these contracts as these contracts have an original
expected duration of one year or less.

WA (%)
FRAKEENRENER
HERREMR R

J& 40 B T 10 3R AR BE an Mo AR A RO 12 51
REBEEPRENX  BESTK
RERRBESHAER - BEFHRS
BERAGEERET  BREFPBEAX
NEMR - TEFERBETHLIZ
NREEREMER - EFHERR
EmEREHBIREELEBR
B MRERBEHERKREFA
W TE MAS 2 IR AT

Ral R

BORENEFHETES TR
BEHRBEER o KBRS
5 R R B -

ELXERBEARREEFMAITE
EEMR B RERHBA

AEEEREFARERTENH

SFEANFEIGHEFE121 RO AI1THE
HIE  BAKEEEARBERBAA
SERMEZEEREBATZHRTE
METEEARESHKRAZE
- DRZEA RN RBERSES
RA—FHER -
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OTHER INCOME

Interest income on bank deposits
Government grants (Note)
Sundry income

Note: The Group was granted subsidies of RMB123,000 under
the Employment Support Scheme launched by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for the payment of wages of employees during the

year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

OTHER NET (LOSS)/GAIN

RITEFRHBHA
B #8 B (ffat)

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

H i 25
2022 2021
—E_C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARET T
4,324 4,347
123 -
12 11
4,459 4,358

Bt : REBE-ZT-_—_F+=-_A=+—
BIEFE  AEEERFBER
FTEUE BRFTHE 80 [R5t 36 J 5T
EIFTABM A R#123,0007T -
ARXHEENFHS (=T =—
F )

Hit (G18) W FHE

Net impairment loss
(recognised)/reversed on:
— trade receivables (Note 17(a))
— contract assets (Note 17(b))

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
(BEWR)/BEERE
BT
—-RWEBSFIE(fE17() (4,918) 21,790
—BREE (KF170) (299) 248
HEWE - BER
i EE - (493)

(5,217)

21,545
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

inventories in relation to staff costs and depreciation,
amounts to approximately RMB2,711,000 (2021:
RMB252,000) which is also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above.

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7. BRBIADRF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging the R B A A 2 R T3 &8 -
following:
2022 2021
== T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
a) Staff costs (including directors’ a) BIRZE (EEEE#M&
emoluments (Note 10)): (R1a£10)) :
— Salaries, wages and —IE ek
other benefits H 4z 12,554 12,179
— Contributions to defined — FERE TR
contribution retirement AR (H1aE9)
plans (Note 9) 430 314
12,984 12,493
b) Finance costs: b) MMBFR®E :
Interest expenses on corporate NAEFFIE
bonds (Note 21) Fx (Hit21) 2,819 2,796
Interest on lease liabilities HEBETN B 36 73
2,855 2,869
c) Other items: c) HftIRH :
Auditor’s remuneration BN &
— audit services — BAZARTS 1,223 1,186
— other services — H AR 411 398
Cost of inventories (Note) FERA (Mat) 135,544 34,279
Depreciation of property, Y - BB R EE
plant and equipment ZHE 227 530
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEECTE 752 729
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the cost of Hiit: BT _—_F+_A=+

—HIEFEBEETIRARN
ERENTEERAOARKE
2,711,0007c (ZZT=—4F : A
R¥252,0007T) * %<& 5 IR

Bt ALXORBBEZHSHE
7 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. NMiIEZcEmakHEMEZEKES
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND RZBH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(@ Income tax in the consolidated statement of (a) REEEZERHMEZEWRER
profit or loss and other comprehensive income ZFBHiE
represents:
2022 2021
s —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income tax ZNEAF{IE — 1 Bl (b2
Frig#
— Provision for the year (Note 22(a)) — RN E R
(K15F 22(a)) (2,533) -
Deferred taxation EAER I8
— Origination and reversal of —HRUEEECES
temporary difference (Note 22(b)) KB (ffa22(b) 1,478 =
(1,055) -

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands,
respectively, are not subject to any income tax
pursuant to the rules and regulations of their
respective countries of incorporation.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% of
the estimated assessable profits of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC during the year
ended 31 December 2022. No provision of PRC
Enterprise Income Tax has been made for the year
ended 31 December 2021 as the Group did not
generated any assessable profits in the PRC for that
year.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 as the Group did not have assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during both years.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law also requires
withholding tax of 10% upon distribution of profits
by the subsidiaries established in the PRC since 1
January 2008 to its overseas shareholders.

ARBIREMBRRDRIREFE
EREREBRLESEMMA
o RERESBEMKZLZ
BRZRAIRRPIBAMME
A FrASHE ©

B ZERRB R TRIE AR A]
R B 2 B ARRER
T+ HA=+—HIE
FE 2 EET EER R AR =R
25%ETE - AR AEBREZR
T —HF+-HA=+—HIE
S I A A P B EE A (R R FE AR
FimA - MR ZEE L ER P
B> ZEATIS R AE L B o

HRASEERBE_S =
ZEE = —kEar = B =ar—(§
IEFEIWFERE BB ERT
A B 2 R A S N A B
BEBFISRIEL BE -

TREEMBREANHAE @ 8
—EENF-H—BE  R®H
B 2 Ff B A R A LB MR
R 2 Tk B2 10% K 15
KRG RIEINTL
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between income tax expenses and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as

follows:

Profit before taxation

Notional tax on profit before
taxation calculated at the statutory
rates applicable to respective
tax jurisdictions

Tax effect of non-taxable
income

Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses

Tax effect of tax losses
not recognised

Tax effect of temporary difference
not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
previously not recognised

Others

Income tax expenses

B B A4 A

BEARES B RA
TR 2 REM R
A EER B A A
ZBERE

BARTKAZ
M8

OEIENT 74
M8

RERHIEEBRLZ
M8

AEREREZRY
M8

B F ST AT AR BER RS
BRZRBTE

Hit

PR BRI

RGeBRERAMEEHKE

RZFES (&)

(b) BEABIRFEZMEBMAX

HETRR ZYRNT -
2022 2021
ol ek - =g ==r
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT AREFIT
156 8,300
1,048 3,065
(20) )
2,296 1,925
1 521
- (5,509)
(2,096) -
(174) -
1,055 -
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance to join the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan managed by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
Group (the employer) and its employees make monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The contributions from each
of the employer and employees are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a state-sponsored retirement
plan operated by the local government in the PRC and
these subsidiaries make mandatory contributions to the
state-sponsored retirement plan to fund the employees
retirement benefits. The retirement contributions paid
by these subsidiaries are based on a certain percentage
of the relevant portion of the payroll of all qualifying
employees in accordance with the relevant regulations in
the PRC and are charged to profit or loss as incurred. The
Group discharges its retirement obligations upon payment
of the retirement contributions to the state-sponsored
retirement plan operated by the local governments in the
PRC. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 are as follows:

Contributions to defined contribution TEREHFERIK

retirement plans ST &l 3R

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under its retirement
benefit scheme in the PRC and under the MPF Scheme
in Hong Kong which may be used to reduce the existing
level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2)
of Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

e M ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

3R KR8 R AR
ERMRRIAETE

BEFEREMELAELTEHEN &
EREREBIEOIRE  AEBEBLHE
HERERBREGONEETAER
MNEERELHEHBHEATELFTE
([cafEestEl]) - BB 8J5H
BYXTABEZEREBIERIRET
2 - IRIFBBELTE - AEE (EA
EBE)REEEBBESASAKIEEN
U (E & RoahlE AR 21K
)2 5% Mt EIEH R - BE
FEES AR B ZHAEBA1,5007 7T
BER - B EFEREIMEE - ¥z
STEI 2 HRANRE SR -

RRRRAF B W B E B
5352 B eh B 3t 75 BT S& 1 3 i B
REBZRINGE - ZEHB AR
M2 AR & B 2 RRET BIfE I 52
1 KA R B B 2 IR IR F 12 1
B - 2EMBRARXMN 2 ENRE
RRDERMAEREREEHFMZ
BRSMOZHEADL - RIRES
BERRE URBAELEZER
AtAEE AEBEERASTEMT
BT 5& (E X i B 5K & B 2 SRR & T
B RAER KA SEETH
REBRKBAN I EEME - Hi
BE [PARS ST )i

AEBEEHE T _—_FR_FT_——
s = F == L5 E Z i
FORIRETE 2 R T -

2022 2021
= T —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT
430 314

HE_Z_—_FR-_ZFT-_—F+=
B=+—BLEE AEBRER
BERAENFERESRESTE
(IRIBEE X pTas 5 0 48 R B 8% +
7N 25 26(2) B AT A A BR R 3R A 7R0K
)BT W ERUAHETR -

101



102

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulations are as follows:

10. EERBRSITHAEME

RIBEBE A RIRDIEI83(1)HEEA
Al (WBEEENRER) R PI280 i
BeESMEMT

Year ended 31 December 2022

BE-BP_"F+-AZt+-HLEE

Contributions

Salaries, to defined
allowances contribution
and other retirement
benefits plans
Fees Hi& #BR EHER Total
Name of director R4 e Htigdl EBHEZHR 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTR ARBTT ARBTR AEBTR
Executive director BTES
Mr. Jiang Xin Baks 103 - - 103
Non-executive director FRTES
Mr. Fan Yajun (Note (3)) PhERE (HiHE) 103 - - 103
Independent non-executive BIUFHRITES
directors
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny 2R TE 185 - - 185
Mr. Hu Jianjun (Note (b)) RERELE (M b)) 51 - - 51
Mr. Chen Xuezheng (Note (c) — BREBUEAE (M (c)) 51 - - 51
493 - - 493
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE

10. X

T+ -_A=1+—HItFE

RESITHRAEME (&)

Year ended 31 December 2021

E_E--E+-A=+-HILFE
Contributions
Salaries, to defined
allowances contribution
and other retirement
benefits plans
Fees  H¢ 2R TEEER Total
Name of director EEfE e HiBA  RIKGTEZ R et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET ARETL AREFT
Executive director BITES
Mr. Jiang Xin Baks 100 - - 100
Non-executive director FRITES
Mr. Fan Yajun (Note (3)) BRELE (M) 100 = = 100
Independent non-executive BIUFHRITES
directors
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny 2R E 179 = = 179
Mr. Hu Jianjun (Note (b)) WHIRE KA (M) 37 = = 37
Mr. Chen Xuezheng (Note (c) ~ FREB %A (#13t(c)) 21 = = 21
Mr. Lai Wing Lee (Note (d) RKFILE (W) 29 - = 29
Professor Wang Guozhen TEEHRE (fiz(e)
(Note (e)) 4 - - 4
470 - - 470
Notes: Bt -
(@) Mr. Fan Yajun was resigned as non-executive director on () BHEEER-T=F=A+~

(b)

(e)

16 March 2023.
Mr. Hu Jianjun was appointed as the independent non-

executive director of the Company on 1 April 2021.

Mr. Chen Xuezheng was appointed as the independent
non-executive director of the Company on 1 August 2021.

Mr. Lai Wing Lee resigned as the independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 August 2021.

Professor Wang Guozhen passed away on 4 January 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the directors of the Company
held share options under the Company’s share option
scheme. Details of which are disclosed in note 25.

(e)

HEEFNITES °

HREEEAEE -2 - —FA—H
RERTAAARBIYIERNTE
=.

RERELEE-—ZT-_—F\A—H
REZTEARARBYIERNTE
ES

AR EEE T _—FN\A—H
RBEEARRBIIENITES

ITEEHXN —_ZE-_—F—HAWMH
Bt o

N=F= ¢ t=H=1—H" K~
REEZRBEARRBERIETEHF
EHERE - EEERENSIZFS
W BRI FE25 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No directors has waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(@) Five highest paid individuals

None (2021: none) of the five individuals with the
highest emoluments, is a director of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining five (2021: five) individuals are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and e EMK
other benefits H b2 7
Contributions to defined TE RR (E FUR IR

contribution retirement plans FTElZ K

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, no emoluments were paid or payable by
the Group to the five highest paid individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during both years.

10.

11.

EERESTBRAEME (&)

HE_ZT-_—_FR-_ZT-_—F+=
A=+—RLFE BMEEZEH
7 £ B U B R AT B 2 /E A (R E AN A
SR INA KNS E R 2 184 S B R
BE BMEEENZMEFTERE
KRB WMETAME -

EEMEATREREERE
B <

(@ BBERSHAL

TE&REMe ALhE(ZE
—F E)ARAEEH
e WERMHFE10 - HerF A
ZECFRB)ALTZM

EEFAT :
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBET T

3,804 3,661
67 60
3,871 3,721

BE_ZE-_—_FK_F——%F
+—A=+—BLFE  &&
B ER LA R A TN
ol JE 5 fr] Bl <2 1 A 7R 5% A 1
FERBEF AR AR
EERF 2 S ol B 2 B E o
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INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
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11.

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments of the above five (2021:

five)

individuals with the highest emoluments are within

the following bands:

Bands:
Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

#HA -
Z£%1,000,000 7T
1,000,001 &L E
1,500,0007% 7T
1,500,001 BT E
2,000,000/ 7T

Senior management’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to senior
management (including one (2021: one) highest paid
individual as disclosed above) are within the following

bands:

Bands:
Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

#Ha :

Z 21,000,000 7T

1,500,001 & T=
2,000,000/5 7T

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

S (i)

(@ EEEREFAL(E)
FRAZK(CZT——F: AR)
Eee AL 2B AR
™

Number of individuals

AB
2022 2021
e —E-—4F
3 4
1 —
1 1
5 5

(b) EREEEMS

ENSENTEREEE (2
B—H(ZZE=—F: —&) Lk
MEB s EEFAL)ZHE
R

Number of individuals

AB

2022 2021
———

—E=-= — T
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE

12.

13.

T+ -_A=t+—HItFE

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company did not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable

to owners of the Company for mEMWARREHEE AL
the purposes of calculating basic FR(ER), &
(loss)/earnings per share

Number of shares Bir&H

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the purpose of calculating s /I mR
basic (loss)/earnings per share INHE 39 28

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 was the same as the basic loss per share because
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
would have anti-dilutive effect.

No dilutive potential ordinary shares from share options
was presented for the year ended 31 December 2021 as
the exercise prices of the Company’s outstanding share
options were higher than the average market prices of the
Company’s ordinary shares during the year.

12.

13.

R E
RAREEFTEZRNEEZE T =
—E+-A=t+—HItFE 2K
BE(ZE=—F : &) o

SR (EE) BF

SREAN (F58) BF

ARBBEAEABEERER (B
18),/ BRTRATSIEE

S EERER (BR) &7

SR EERER (BR), &7

2022 2021

e =T =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER®TT ARBFIT

(899) 8,300

2022 2021

—E-F =

840,000,000 840,000,000
SREE (F58) B

PR T8 2K 2 ) 4 R AT T AR AL
EREBYE HBE-T-=
+=B=t-ALTErSRES
ERRSREASEAR -

HE-_TE-_—F+=-A=+—81t
FE - ARAR A M RTTEERE
HITEEB SR AR R E B FEY
ME @ W E R 7 I B £
S AR o



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:
As at 1 January 2021
Additions

Disposal
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Additions

Written off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2021
Charge for the year

Eliminated on disposal
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Charge for the year
Eliminated on written off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2022

Carrying amounts:

As at 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2021

BE:
RZZ--5-f—-H
NE

RE

R A%

R-Z-—F+-A=+-HRk
“Z--45-A-R

NE

M

R
RZB-Z#+-A=+-H
RHIRE:
RZF=—-5—-H—-H
FEERE

fa 8 B
3R

TEERE

HissEm

B
W=B-—#+-A=1-H
Rl :
RZZ-=§+-A=1+-AH

RZTZ-§+ZA=1+-H
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HILLHFE

14. Y% BERR®E

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold

equipment  improvements Motor
o HR Machineries vehicles Total
RER R nREE RE #an
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
3,510 224 19,829 5,009 28,572
5 - - - 5
(1,891) - (18,692) (1,723) (22,306)
(8) (1) s (17) (32)
1,616 217 1,137 3,269 6,239
22 - - - 22
- (132) - - (132)
14 14 - 53 81
1,652 99 1,137 3,322 6,210
3,458 146 18,579 4,788 26,971
31 31 468 - 530
(1,889) - (18,201) (1,637) (21,727)
(6) (5) = (17) (28)
1,594 172 846 3,134 5,746
18 32 177 - 227
- (132) - - (132)
12 12 - 53 i
1,624 84 1,023 3,187 5,918
28 15 114 135 292
22 45 291 135 493
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

As at 1 January Rn—H—H
Depreciation e

Exchange adjustments b H

As at 31 December W Tr=H=E1—E
Settlement of lease liabilities EEHEas

Expenses relating to short-term leases E25GHAFAEAER 2 L

Expenses relating to leases of low-value ERIXBEEEMEHEZ
assets, excluding short-term leases X TEREEEEEE
of low-value assets ZEHAEE

Total cash outflows for leases MEZRE M &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

15. FRHEEE

Leased property

HEYE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTIT
1,048 1,818
(752) (729)
64 (41)
360 1,048
821 796
180 180
11 9
1,012 985
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2022 are as follows:

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

16. RB AT ZRE

R—BE-_—_F#+-_A=+—H' K
DEZEBMBARFELT :

109

Proportion of ownership interest

WHELY
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid The
establishment and share capital/  Group’s Held Held
type of legal entity registered  effective by the bya  Principal activities
gl capital  interest  Company  subsidiary  and place of
Name of subsidiary RIMER EETRARE 35E HFLE  EMELE  operation
HELREHE ERERLE k% /gRks ERE: i1} B TERBREERE
Pan Asia Environmental British Virgin US$200/ 100% 100% - Investment holding/
Protection Technologies Islands, limited Ordinary Share Hong Kong
Limited liability company 20057/ LB REBR/BA
EBRARES
ARAE
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, N/A 100% - 100%  Sales of EP products
Protection (Jiangsu) wholly-foreign- (Note (ij) and equipment,
Company Limited (Note () owned enterprise T and provision of
RORR (I8 ERAF RENTEELE iR EP construction
(Hritn) engineering services/
the PRC
HERREMRRHE
RRERRERTE
W/l
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, HK$100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Sales of EP products
Protection (China) wholly-foreign- Registered Capital and equipment,
Company Limited (Note () owned 100,000,000/75,/ and provision of
TR (RE)ERAF enterprise HRA EP construction
(i) hE - NEBERE engineering services/
the PRC
BERREMRRE
RRHRRERTR
s/ 8

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at the end of the year or within any time during the year.

Notes:

(i) The English names for these companies which were
established in the PRC are not officially registered but
included here as a translation for identification purpose.

(if) As at 31 December 2022, the registered capital of this
company was not yet injected by the Group.

The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non-
controlling interests during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

TA 6 IR 3 7N 4R 2 A 4] B ] 79 4651 488 B
BARGEMNERIESFE -

b

() FHERPERILIZARZEXEHE
WIEXZEMERLRZBMW - NS
AR X R AEEMS - f#f
HBIZH o

My A= ta s S EE 8 » 32
RAFEMACAR R A RBIEA -

HE_Z_—FR-_ZFT_—F+—
BA=+—BIFE » KNEEILEH
BN RS E AR ERS -



110

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERREERRATF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables (Note (a)) U E S 5RI8 (K1a%(a)

Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables & : U 5 18 2 M EE 12

Trade receivables, net U E 5 5RIBF R
Other receivables H b U 3R IE
Contract assets (Note (b)) ERIEE (b))

Less: Impairment loss on contract assets  J& : A RIEE ZBIEEE

Contract assets, net ERIBEFRE
Prepayments and deposits AR RES
Other tax recoverable H AT Ug Bl 718
Notes:

a) Trade receivables

The Group generally allows credit period ranging
from O to 180 days to its trade customers. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
note 31(a).

Credit is offered to customers following an
assessment of their financial abilities and payment
track record. Credit limits are set out for all
customers and these can be exceeded only with
the approval from management. Management also
monitors overdue trade receivables, and follows up
the collection of these receivables.

17. EWEZ R HEMFRIE

2022 2021
- el B
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

37,679 2,612
(5,067) (149)
reeeee 32812 ELEY
1,275 -
33,887 2,463
14,478 4,313
(846) (547)
_________ 13632 3766
248 216
11 11
47,778 6,456
Kt -
a) REBRESNE

AEB—RETHESEFO
Z180HMEEH - AL S
EEERRZE—THE &
RIS (a) °

EENENGEEPOMBED
ENFEHErRATEFEL -
ARBBAEEFPHIERFEER
B ETEERELERTA
BBLEEERRE - EEEN
ERBHNEEE SRR A
B R RE W EI%ERUGRR -



Annual Report 2022
—e-—srg 111

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. BWE S R HAMKE (&)
(Continued)
a) Trade receivables (Continued) a) EWEZNIEE)
The following is an ageing analysis of trade LNTEEWE SRERERE
receivables, net of impairment loss, at the end of HARBREZZHE (HEH
the reporting period, presented based on the invoice WABmERBHES) 25
date, which approximated the respective revenue WAEMBRBEBEZERER
recognition dates: T
2022 2021
- it - - B4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARETT

Less than six months NMEARA 34,479 2,612
Over six months but less than NMEAU EE—FR
one year 3,200 -
37,679 2,612
Less: Impairment loss B REEE (5,067) (149)
32,612 2,463
The movements in the loss allowances for FAZEKE ZFRIBZRERE
impairment of trade receivables during the year is as BEEESFHINT -
follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

As at 1 January Rn—A—H 149 21,939
Net impairment losses recognised/ R/ (BEEE)RE

(reversed) (Note 6) BB (fite6) 4,918 (21,790)
As at 31 December NrE = —=E 5,067 149
The Group applied the ECL model prescribed by AEEERBBYEREZER
HKFRS 9, and the impairment methodology of ECL FORBEL BN EESEE
model is set out in note 31(a). X - MBEGEEBEER 2R

EIRNHIEES1(a)
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b) Contract assets

The contract assets primarily represent the retention
receivables from the contracts with customers.
The retention receivables (generally 5% to 20%
of the total contracted value) are amounts which
are not paid by the customers until expiry of the
retention period (generally one year) as specified in
the contracts. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of contract assets during the year are as follows:

17. BB S REMKE (&)

by EREE

EREEXEEXRBETFEH
Z EMWERRIA - EUE RK
B(—RA/ARBEEZS%E
20%)IEEEZEARFIAZER
HE(BER—F)EREEP
X2 e - BREENK
REGHE  CREEBRE

FEWE B 5RIA

FRAZAREBEREBRRRE

As at 1 January
Net impairment loss

recognised/(reversed) (Note 6)

As at 31 December

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. As at 31 December 2022, the bank
balances and deposits carried interests at the prevailing
market interest rate which ranged from 0% to 0.3% (2021:

0% to 0.3%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had bank balances
and cash denominated in RMB that were either not freely
convertible and were subject to exchange controls in the
PRC, amounting to approximately RMB1,202,266,000

(2021: RMB1,221,819,000).

ERR(BERE)RE
ERFE (f:26)

W+=A=+—8

ZEHMT :

2022 2021
ot < - 5 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TT AREFIT
547 795
299 (248)
846 547

18. RERBITHEER

ReRBTEHEELAEERFEZ
HeMRERHBAA=EAKAT
ZHEBRITER R _F+
—A=+—8  RITEHEREIIR
BITMEFEMNENT0%E0.3%(=
T ——4F 1 0%Z0.3%)5F 5 o

W= =aEgr = B = qr—[F -
AEEFBETERTFRE R LB
WS ANEE Bl 52 8 2 A ARG
BEZRITEHEBGRESHAARE
1,202,266,0007c (ZZE=—4%F : A
R#1,221,819,0007T) °
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. BENEZ RHEMKIEA
2022 2021
—g== —E-—f
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TFR ARBTT

Trade payables (Note (a)) B S8 (Kit(a) 17,905 7,838
Accruals and other payables FERTE A I b FE < RIE 11,325 12,236
Amount due to a related company FEA —FEIRE RS 2 R 5RIE
(Note (b)) (H1a®)) 51,713 35,010
Financial liabilities measured at REHEKATENEREE
amortised cost 80,943 55,084
Contract liabilities aREE 400 -
Other tax payable H b R IE 208 =
81,551 55,084
Notes: HtaE
a) Ageing analysis of trade payables a) ENEZREBEZEREIWN
The ageing analysis of trade payables at the end of BB SRIARSREBRREZ
each reporting period based on invoice date is as BERHZRETOT ¢
follows:
2022 2021
ok = ot - B
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBET T

Less than six months ~NMEAR 13,467 4,798
Over six months but less than one year 7~ BIA FBE—FR 3,450 2,052
Over two years A £ 988 988
17,905 7,838

b) The amount due to Praise Fortune Limited, the b) ENARAZEENREE
Company’s immediate and ultimate controlling party, 75 Praise Fortune LimitedzIE

is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and ThFEEZME EER - L

repayment on demand. RBERERER -
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

20. LEASE LIABILITIES

The lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 2 years

Less: Amounts due for settlement
within 12 months shown

under current liabilities

Amounts due for settlement
after 12 months shown
under non-current liabilities

21. CORPORATE BONDS

20.
—&FR
—FREMENR
B R 21{E A RSS2 BB

(RARBAEE)
FER12{E A 18 4578 2 3R
(RIERBAE)
21.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
issued five tranches of 3 years to 7.5 years corporate
bonds with aggregate principal amount of HK$25,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB21,278,000) which will be
matured during the period from October 2020 to May 2025.

Two tranches of 4 years corporate bonds were subscribed
by Mr. Jiang Xin, the executive director of the Company,
and Mr. Jiang Quanlong, father of Mr. Jiang Xin, with
principal amount of HK$10,500,000 each (equivalent to
approximately RMB8,944,000 each) which were matured
in October 2021. In October 2021, the mature dates of
these two tranches corporate bonds were extended to

October 2031.

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT AREFIT
354 751

- 324

354 1,075

(354) (751)

- 324

DRAEES

HE-_ZT—+tF+-_A=+—8H1L
FE - ARAIEITRAYIFERT.HF
NAIES + A& ¥B¥R25,000,000
BT (HERHARK21,278,000
) BRZEZEF T ARES
“hERAHAMREIE -

MEBAFRARIESFABEELE (K
RAMTES) RBERELE (KBS
EEZRBI)RE  SBHALEA
10,500,000/ 7T (HHERBEHAR
KX81944,000E) @ M= =%
BEH - R=—T=-—&F+7 - W
NAEENEHBEERE-_T=—
F+H o
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Total st

21. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued) 21.
The rest of three tranches of 3 years to 7.5 years
corporate bonds with aggregate principal amount
of HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB3,390,000) were subscribed by three independent
third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
issued one tranche corporate bond of 6 months with
a principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB26,604,000) to an independent third
party. The bond matured in May 2019 and the mature
date was further extended to November 2024.
The corporate bonds are unlisted, unsecured and interest
bearing at a fixed interest rate of 6% per annum with
interest payable annually in arrears. The effective interest
rates of the corporate bonds as at 31 December 2022 are
ranged from approximately 6.0% to 10.4% (2021: 6.0% to
10.4%).
Movements of the corporate bonds during the year are as
follows:
At 1 January n—H—H
Effective interest expenses (Note 7(b)) BRHA B
(K&t 7())
Direct cost for renewal BEE B A
Interests paid =N
Redemption i={El
Exchange adjustments b B
At 31 December = ) =Ar—12
Analysed for reporting purpose as follows: BEHWTHIT :
Current portion BNEAES 5
Non-current portion JERNERER 5

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

DNEES (&)

FR N =ZHIAKE 4% 4,000,000 T
(HHERH ARY3,390,0007T) 23
FE7S5FRAEFEH=-BBIE
=R

HE_Z-N\F+-_A=+—8L1t
FE  ARAM—BBUE=FHE#
T—HeEARRES  A&HhH
30,000,000/ 7T (FHER K AR
26,604,0007T) ° ZEFNR=_ZE—
FRAZE MmMIHRBE—FT
EE-_ZT-_OF+—A8 -

RNEMEHAR LT - S| AT Bz E
EFFER6%:TE - BRSFTER K
BRZEMFE R —_F+—A
=+—H ' AREFZBERIFENT
496.0%%210.4%( ZFE=—4F :6.0%
£10.4%) °

RAVBEFNFERZEZHINT

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TX ARET T
44,284 45,563
2,819 2,796
- (87)
(2,772) (2,688)
(855) -
4,064 (1,300)
47,540 44,284

- 25,5622

47,540 18,762
47,540 44,284
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

21. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

Carrying amounts repayable (based on the scheduled
repayable dates set out in the subscription agreements):

Within one year

Over

one year but not more than

—&27]

21.

BB —FETBAMRSF

two years

Over two years but not more than

five years
Over five years

22.

Total

HBMFETBARSF

BeAF

#Et

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a)

The movements of tax payable in the
consolidated statement of financial position

during the year are as follows:

At 1 January
Provision for the year
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
(Note 8(a))
Income tax paid during the year
— PRC Enterprice Income Tax

At 31 December

i Fe 5 e =)
REREE

—PELRMEHR

(H17£8(a))
FREMEER

—PELRMEHR

T e =}

22,

AEMES (&)
BEZETE(REREBZMS 2
ZHEEBH) :
2022 2021
= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBFIT
- 25,5622
27,004 -
1,606 1,434
18,930 17,328
47,540 44,284

e MBRRRAZFEH

a) HREMBRRRAGZENSH

EHREFAZESEWT :
2022 2021
—E-—F NEESSEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBFIT
- 2,521
2,533 -
- (2,521)
2,533 -
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22. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

b)

c)

Deferred tax assets recognised

The major component of deferred tax assets
recognised and movement thereon are as follows:

22,

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

mEPBRRRAZFAEB

(&

b) CERRBELEHEEE

E%ﬁLLﬁEEFZI%ﬁ
PRER D R BB E AT

Impairment loss
on trade receivables
and contract assets

BEHRER
CREEZRERE
RMB’000
AR®TT
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 W=-—Z—-—F—H—H »
and 1 January 2022 T —F+-A=+—8HkF
—E-—_%—H—H -
Credited to profit or loss (Note 8(a)) T AB= (MiE8(@) 1,478
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H 1,478

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law with
effect from 1 January 2008 onwards, non-resident
enterprises without an establishment or place of
business in the PRC or which have an establishment
or place of business but the relevant income is not
effectively connected with the establishment or a
place of business in the PRC, will be subject to
withholding income tax at the rate of 10% on various
types of passive income such as dividends derived
from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008,
the Ministry of Finance and State Administration
of Tax approved Caishui (2008) No. 1, pursuant to
which dividend distributions out of retained profits of
foreign investment enterprises prior to 31 December
2007 will be exempted from withholding income tax.

c) ARERELEHEEE

BER-_ZZN\F—HA—HEE
ERZPBEBEMESRE I
AR BRI kR A X2 IE
BB 1 ZE ok A R B AR A Bk R

X BRI AT FEERR R
B S Bk RR A 5485 - A
15 78 5t & EWQWAKWEE
2 BB 1R 10% Bt R 14N
FEHABH R NF=
AZ+=8 ' BB ERBEXRE
48 R /& B X (2008) 1 5% -
BER—ZTLtF+ A=+
—HATBINE B ER B EFIE
o2 3% B0 R A% HE #A G L AR TR
HMFTEEL ©
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

22. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

c)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB35,262,000
(2021: RMB34,165,000) in relation to withholding
tax on undistributed earnings of approximately
RMB352,624,000 (2021: RMB341,650,000) due to the
retention of undistributed earnings by the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as determined by the directors
of the Company.

There are no income tax consequences to the
Company attaching to the payment of dividends by
the Company to its shareholders.

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2022, deductible
temporary differences in respect of tax
losses not recognised in these consolidated
financial statements were approximately
RMB893,000 (2021: RMB12,665,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of
such deductible temporary differences due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in the above are tax losses of approximately
RMB893,000 (2021: RMB12,665,000) which can
only be carried forward for a maximum period of five
years.

22. BE

(%)

c)

d)

BBARRRAZFER

AEDIELEHEEE (H)

RZBE-_—_F+_A=+—
B AEBEBRDIKREFDHA
R#352 624,0007T (Z 2= —
F . AR#341,650,0007T)
Z TET A B A R R RIE TR
HEEAHARYS35,262,000
T(ZEZ—F : AR¥
34,165,0007T) ' IR A
EZRTEAETBEKZANEB
DRRBADIRBFIFTE -

ARRAERRZ M 2 S
BNSEARBZASHTZE -

RERIELEHIAEE

RZEZZF+ZA=+—
B @ KRGS P BRERER
M EEENTENTRER
#H A ANRBES93,000T (=
——F: AR¥12,665,000
J0) o FA R AR 2R FIE 7 2 DA TR
i AEEIWARFZE T ED
TREZERRARECHBEE -
FiiiE B BERBEBBEHAR
¥ 893,000 L (=T = — 4 :
AR#12,665,0007T) © {£7]
HEHESZBIRF -
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23. SHARE CAPITAL 23.

Authorised and issued share capital

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

LS

EEREBITRAE

2022 and 2021
—E-—§R-B-—%

Number of
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREIEO. 18 T i) BB shares Amount
Ein 8 H kg
’000 HK$’000
Th& F#&x
Authorised: EE
As at 1 January and 31 December R—HA—HBX&
+=—A=+—H 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARE :
As at 1 January and 31 December R—HA—BX&
+=-—A=+—H 840,000 84,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.

(Equivalent to
approximately
RMB78,073,000)
(HERHARE
78,073,0007T)

EBEFEAGRUDIFEIRL
BREXEERARNABBIRAE LI
BR-—ERE - 2 EERHEAR
ARBEEMS BRSE -
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+-_A=+—HIFE

24. RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning

and the end of the year are set out below:

As at 1 January 2021 RZEZ-§-A-A
Loss for the year FRER
Qther comprehensive loss A2 EER

- Exchange differences on translation —£EEHHEXE
of financial statements to ZIEREEL
presentation currency ERER

Total comprehensive loss ENZEFRLE
for the year
Transfer to accumulated losses upon AR LB
lapse of share options EZ:ER
As at 31 December 2021 i s
and 1 January 2022 TR
“E-—%#-f-H
Loss for the year ENEE
Other comprehensive income E2E%E

- Exchange difference on translation  — EEHEHZE
of financial statements to 2IEREEL
presentation currency ERER

Total comprehensive income ENZENEAE
for the year
Transfer to accumulated loss upon ~ REREXREEE
lapse of share options REGER
As at 31 December 2022 N S
T=EE R

24. f##E

P F R s 2 BRI

SRENRER T S
Sl :

Attributable to owners of the Company

AEENGAERSARIEY 2F
fRE R

BEYR o AN B HE R O (8 B AR AP
BFIEH

L YNGE EPN
Share
Share Share  Contributed  Translation option Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
B* RinER BARE EREE BRERE RHEE &g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note 23) (Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (v)) (Note (vi))
(Hi523) (zke)  (REGin) (o)) (Hisk)
78,073 466,844 372,178 (77,824) 6,640 (285,110) 560,801
_ - 2 - - (11,625) (11,625)
- - = (15,825) = = (15,825)
- - - (15,825) - (11,625) (27,450)
= - - - (224) 224 -
78,073 466,844 372,178 (93,649) 6,416 (296,511) 533,351
- - - - - (11,840) (11,840)
- - - 48,859 - - 48,859
- - - 48,859 - (11,840) 37,019
- - - - (6,416) 6,416 -
78,073 466,844 372,178 (44,790) - (301,935) 570,370




Annual Report 2022
B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24. RESERVES (Continued)

Share premium and reserves

Notes:

i)

i)

)

Share premium

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the owners of
the Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value and share premium of the
subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition of these
subsidiaries at the time of group reorganisation immediately
prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on 1 December
2007.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the net assets value
of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares
pursuant to the group reorganisation.

Enterprise expansion reserve and statutory surplus reserve

Statutory surplus reserve and enterprise expansion reserve
are set up by the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC by way of appropriation from the profit for the year in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC. These subsidiaries are required to allocate certain
percent of its net profit for the year as reported in their PRC
statutory accounts to the statutory surplus reserve and
enterprise expansion reserve until such reserves reach 50%
of registered capital. These reserves are non-distributable.
The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up prior
year losses of these subsidiaries, if any, and can be applied
in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issues.
The enterprise expansion reserve is used for expanding the
capital base of these subsidiaries by means of capitalisation
issue.
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24. RESERVES (Continued)

Share premium and reserves (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
v) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the entities within the Group whose functional
currency is other than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(r).

vi) Share option reserve

The share option reserve arose upon on the grant of share
options of the Company and is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 2(n)(ii).

Distributable reserves of the Company

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, share
premium and contributed surplus are distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of share premium and contributed surplus if (i) it is, or
would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its share capital account.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately
RMB537,087,000 (2021: RMB542,511,000), computed
in accordance with the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands and the Company’s articles of association. This
includes the Company’s share premium of approximately
RMB466,844,000 (2021: RMB466,844,000) and contributed
surplus of approximately RMB372,178,000 (2021:
RMB372,178,000), less accumulated losses of approximately
RMB301,935,000 (2021: RMB296,511,000), which are
available for distribution.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 1 December 2007. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options
to the following eligible participants:

)

i

Vi)

vii)

viii)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time,
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
the Group holds an equity interest;

any non-executive director (including independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

25.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares
commenced on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(“General Scheme Limit”). The total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
84,000,000 (including those granted but not yet to be
exercised), representing 10% of the issued shares of the
Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
participant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue during the 12-month period
before the date of grant without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Any grant of options under the
Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million within any 12-month period must be approved by
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

Unless otherwise determined by the directors of the
Company and stated in the offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, there is one year vesting period required under
the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option
before it can be exercised.

An offer for the grant of options to a grantee shall be
accepted by no later than 21 days from the date of offer.
HK$1 per grant of options is payable on the acceptance
of the grant of options. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and expiring in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or upon the expiry of the tenth anniversary
of the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the earlier.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 25. BEIRETTE ()
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the TEEHRARAESZEE  MAT
Company, and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the ?%1@5)5@()?“& % B BB A2 P B 5
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the BRABARRIRG 2 W E (i)
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the ERBEL H R A EE ¥ E 8%
date of the offer of grant; (i) the average closing price of REFGAMERAFA QAR D 2
the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations W TIE ¢ K (i) AR R HmE
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days (AEEERLE) -
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
a) The terms and conditions of the share options a) BTEEREEBREZMGR
granted to directors and employees are as RGGWMT :
follows:
Number of
share
options Contractual
granted Vesting life of options
% H conditions {2
MEixiE®H BEES aREH
Granted to directors: T%%%%ZE%H%E :
—on 11 June 2012 —F——4F 5,000,000 one year 10 years
~NA+T—H —F 45
Granted to employees: BT EE 2 IERAE
—on 11 June 2012 ——T——F 30,000,000 one year 10 years
~NA+T—H —F T4
Total number of share = B I i 2
options granted 35,000,000
On 11 June 2012, 39,000,000 share options were RZFE—=—F~A+—H "
granted to directors, senior management and BIEA R A 2 ERREE A
employees of the Group under the Company’s Share HEH1ATHRERANERE
Option Scheme at a consideration of HK$1 for E SREBABLREER
each offer of which 35,000,000 share options were 139,000,00017 & B4 - 2

accepted in July 2012. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of
HK$0.1 each of the Company. These share options
vested on 11 June 2013, and will be exercisable
until 10 June 2022. The exercise price is HK$0.83
per share. As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding
share options granted and accepted by directors and
employees was 31,500,000 (2022: Nil).

31,500,000 (2021: 1,000,000) share options were

lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

No share options were exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

b) The number and weighted average exercise

price of share options granted and accepted by

directors and employees are as follows:

Outstanding at beginning of EMRARTE
the year

Lapsed during the year FRER

Outstanding at end of the year ~ F#RHAIT{E

Exercisable at end of the year ~ F# 7 F471F

5. BBIRERTE (&)

b) ERHEESERESCEMAZ

BRESE RMERGITEE
mE
2022 2021
—BCCE —T--F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price Number of price Number of
MiEFLY  share options MEF  share options
fTER ERESE e BRESER
HK$0.83#&TC 31,500,000 HK$0.83% 7T 32,500,000
HK$0.83#&TT (31,500,000)  HK$0.837% 7T (1,000,000)
- - HK$0.83%TT 31,500,000
- - HK$0.83%7T 31,500,000

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2021
had an exercise price of HK$0.83 and had a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.441

years.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

c)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of the share options granted is measured
based on the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The
contractual life of the share option is used as an
input into this model.

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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. BREETE (&)

c) BREZAFERRBRR

AR B A T & 1S 2 RIS 2
NP ERERBERE 2 AFE
FTE - BRBEREZGFAF
B[ —AARREEERR 5
Ho-BREZARFHAILE
EWAS L S

Share options

granted on
11 June 2012
Fair value of share options and BEREZATFERMEE —E—_F
assumptions ~NA+—H
Rz iEakiE
Fair value at measurement date Ret2 BBz A E HK$0.25#& 7T
Eto
HK$0.27 &7
Share price & (B HK$0.83# 7T
Exercise price 1I{EE HK$0.83# 7T
Expected volatility (expressed as TEARR MR (VAT =18 =0 BRfE
weighted average volatility EERNIARAH
used in the modeling under TR IERR)
the Binomial Option Pricing Model) 54%
Option life (expressed as weighted FERRE SR AR (LA [ 1B = HARE
average life used in the modeling EERNIARAH
under the Binomial Option I HFERRT) 10 years
Pricing Model) +F
Expected dividends TEEARR B 4.82%
Risk-free interest rate 4 [ e 1) 2
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) (RIBINEESZE) 1.13%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information. Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

There were one year vesting period from the date of
grant associated with the share options granted.
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26. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions and all those
divisions are located in the PRC. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group’s
operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8,
Operating segments are organised into two main operating
segments including (i) EP products and equipment, and (ii)
EP construction engineering services. No other operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

a)

Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s CODM monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
assets, and current assets with the exception of
unallocated cash and bank balances, investments
in financial assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade and other payables
attributable to individual segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated and services rendered by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments. Inter-segment assistance provided by one
segment to another is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/
(loss) is “adjusted EBITDA” that is, “adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation”, where ‘“interest” is regarded as
including investment income and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment
losses on non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted
EBITDA, the Group’s loss are further adjusted
for items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as directors’ emoluments, auditor’s
remuneration and other corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s CODM
is provided with segment information concerning
revenue, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.
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26. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 26. 7

a) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and a)
liabilities (Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 is set out below:

ok

PR & (&)

DRWA - BAHEE  BE
R&E (&)

i

BE_T-_—_FR-T=_—%F
+_A=+—HBLEFE #®HE
TR BE K 3 50 7% 35 514 o 1Al AR
SEEREBERREARBRZ
REBE R 2D IHE RS a0
S ¢

EP products EP construction
and equipment engineering services Total
BRERRSER BRERIERS it

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

—E-C-f -—T--F CZB-CH
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TRE ARETT AR®TT

Reportable segment revenue from  KENBEF 2

—Z-—% ZBIZ&E —E-—F
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR ARETR

1,145 155,568 38,158

1,145 155,568 38,158

external customers 2R BRA 155,568 37,013 -
Inter-segment revenue AEEBA - - -
Reportable segment revenue AE2HDHHBA 155,568 37,013 -
Reportable segment profit AE2HD
(adjusted EBITDA) it
(4855 %EBITDA) 18,747 24,221 -

233 13,747 24,454

Depreciation of property, plant mE - BEK

and equipment REE {177 (481) - - {177) (481)
Net impairment loss (recognised)/ (2 H#zR),/ E &L

reversed on: REBETFE

— trade receivables — W E SFE (4,918) 21,790 - - (4,918) 21,790

— contract assets -AREE (299) 248 - = (299) 248
Reportable segment assets AEHmDHEE 47,355 6,521 135 135 47,490 6,656
Reportable segment liabilities EEE =l 17,317 8,273 9,187 8,906 26,504 17,179

Note: Kt -

There were no additions to non-current assets to both
reportable segments during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

RBET-_—_FR-_F=-—F+
ZA=+—HIFE  WET2®H
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26. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 26.

b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenue

Reportable segment revenue
Elimination of inter-segment
revenue

Consolidated revenue

(Loss)/Profit

Reportable segment profit
derived from external customers

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Finance costs

Income tax expenses

Unallocated income

Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses

Consolidated (loss)/profit before
taxation

Assets

Reportable segment assets

Unallocated cash and bank
balances

Deferred tax assets

Unallocated head office and
corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities

Corporate bonds

Tax payable

Amount due to a related company

Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

A

A2 BEA

i sH > BB YA

malA

(B54R) i@ %l

REINEDE PR A 23
7 BBt A
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Ao EARED R bR
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o
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b) HW2HSHBUYA - BERIRE
B EERABEZHE

2022 2021
—E-F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBFIT
155,568 38,158
155,568 38,158
13,747 24,454
(227) (530)
(752) (729)
(2,855) (2,869)
(1,055) =
4,459 4,358
(14,216) (16,384)
(899) 8,300
47,490 6,656
1,202,701 1,222,063
1,478 =

940 184
1,252,609 1,230,060
26,504 17,179
47,540 44,284
2,533 -
51,713 35,010
3,688 3,970
131,978 100,443
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26. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

c)

d)

Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers individually

contributing 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue is as follows:

Customer A XFEH
Customer B Y=y
Customer C EFR
Customer D EFT
Customer E BREIX

Revenue from the above customers during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are generated
from both EP products and equipment segment and
EP construction engineering services segment.

Geographical information

Y

Z

Revenue from external customers

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of the Group’s
revenue from external customers. The
geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were
provided or the goods were delivered.

The PRC (place of domicile)

Spec/fied non-current assets

The Group’s specified non-current assets
comprise property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets.

The geographical location of these specified
non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets.

B (FEE)

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

26. 73

c)

d)

PR & (&)
FHEXEREFZEN

KB EBIEINE P Z WA
EEBKAI0%IA LT ¢

2022 2021
= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBFIT
63,612 -
29,023 -
25,627 -

- 19,857

- 18,301

BE-_Z-_—FK-_2F——

+—A=+—BLFEE KB
EREFBRATIERIRE @
BEDEARIRRER LIE
Bk 7% 55 EB i 2R o

HIEE R
(1) KEINBEFZRA

TREHBRBEAEE K
BN R P 2 WA R
R ER - BEPM
EEREHRRERE
m @ E S D -

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
155,568 38,158

) IEEHFREBEE
AEBZEEIRBE

EBERUE BER
REAREREEE

SZEETEFRDEERN
PrEtE HRE (S Y
X BBERREAEE
REEEMS) BENE
BRETEHTE ©
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26. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
d) Geographical information (Continued)
(7). Specriied non-current assets (Continuea)
The following table sets out information about

the geographical location of the specified non-
current assets.

The PRC (place of domicile) P (FEHE)

Hong Kong B

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than those disclosed in the consolidated statement
of financial position and other notes to the consolidated
financial statements:

a) Transactions with related parties

Corporate bonds: NAlE%

- Mr. Jiang Xin Director of the Company ~ — B& %4 ARNAES

-Mr. Jiang Quanlong ~ Father of Mr. Jiang Xin,a ~ ~BRERE  ADAEZ
director of the Company BartzR

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the above transactions were entered into under
normal course of business and in accordance
with the terms of the agreements governing these
transactions.

26. o

d)

R E (48)

WEER (F)

) FEEFTEEE (&)
TREHEBETIER
HEENMERE &
¥ o

2022 2021

ol ek - —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARBFIT
402 427

250 1,114

652 1,541

27. EXEBEALRE

A MR R IR 2 9 M AR & Bt

TR BT T -
a) HEBEEAIRS
Amounts owed by
the Group to related parties Related interest expenses
SRARAEREALHRA HERHRAX
As at 31 December Year ended 31 December
R+ZB=1-H BET-AZT-ALER
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZECC —E--F k- o “EC-F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR  AREBTR  ARRFR  ARETR
9,465 8,664 538 545
9,465 8,664 538 545

ARBEFA/ AR FEH
BREEBBRETAREBEREZ
ER 5 Z W IRHKR] L
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28.
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MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

b) Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of
the Group representing the amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 10 and the
highest paid employees and senior management as
disclosed in note 11 is as follows:

REEE R
BB AR A

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did
not have significant capital commitment in respect of
acquisition and construction of property, plant and
equipment contracted but not provided for.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its
shareholders.

The management actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
through the amount of dividend payment to shareholders
or raise new debt financing. No changes were made in the
objectives or policies during the year.

The management monitors the Group’s capital structure
on the basis of a net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes
trade and other payables, lease liabilities and corporate
bonds) minus cash and bank balances.

There was no net debt for the Group as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

27.

28.

29.

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

EXREREALRS (R)

b) BRIEEEEAERS

AREBTEEEAEB Z &
(VMR 10FT R 2 F AR
AEELMFIIREY RS
HeRENSRERABZS
) HHMT ¢

2022 2021
= T e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
2,227 2,126

32 28

2,259 2,154

IR

R-ZBE-_—_FR_ZT-_—F+=-H
=t+—H8 AEEVEFKRERE
HEYE  BERIEBEITHERR
P HERRAER BB EREARAIE ©

EXREE

AEBEEREAZHERBRDRE
AEBERPEERBEELEREE
R ARESLRHEF M8
£ RRBERREUREZ LR -

BEERGNTERHEANRBET
m e MEE  WERRBRRDB®RS
ATAREHFE cBREEKFER
{2 B AN R Z 4F BE RRFE 2
B EUS P 1 - 33 48 B A UK 3 AX
BSETHEBBRE L E AREE
MR - FR - HEAZFERHL
BURELAEAZE -

EEERERL X FEELEERAR
KEERGEE - Bt - AEER
EEBFRREBAR (BRENE
ZREMKIE HEABNAR QT
55 ) B & RIRTTAEER ©

AEBR_ZE_—_FR_FT—_—F
+-—B=1+—BBEEHFE -

AR A AT EL B B 2~ BB S0
MERZEARRERS]
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments at the end of each reporting period are as

follows:

Financial assets SREE

Trade receivables FEUNE 5 FKIR

Other receivables H b pE I SRR

Cash and bank balances H& MIRTT# R

Financial assets measured at BRMEBREHED
amortised cost EREE

Financial liabilities aMER

Trade and other payables FEfNE 5 KA M FRIE

Corporate bonds NN

Lease liabilities HEBE

Financial liabilities measured at BREEREHEDN
amortised cost ERARE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31.

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The risks associated with the financial instruments include
credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and currency
risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables,
and bank balances. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

30. e TESE

REREHRR SRR TANK

EENT :
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

32,612 2,463
1,275 =
1,236,588 1,224,526
1,270,475 1,226,989
80,943 55,084
47,540 44,284
354 1,075
128,837 100,443

SREAREERSRMIAY
AR

HZEeMTAARIEREBEA
SERAFEBBRETELNEERER
% MEER  RBESRBNIE
Rk - AEBEMEYZEREAN
5 A DA B 3R % R B 1 B S L B
EEBRMEPIHINDT -

a)

FERR

EERBEHFAHERER
EEUNBASBERRTBE
B AREZERERRIER
B RUWE 5 & H A 5RIE A R R
THES - EEEERIEFEER
R UIBEBEEERZSEER

B -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31. €RiEREERSMIA Y
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NYE{E (&)
(Continued)
a) Credit risk (Continued) a) f=EREK(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BEEERBRERFALDE
The tables below show the credit quality and the TRINRERAEBEEER
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the WEEE & Rxm s 8RR A
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past BoUEDETERBEEHBER
due information unless other information is available (RIFEMERNBEALEERE
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging AR SAE 1 BRI 1S ) R -
classification as at 31 December. ZRA=T—HMFERDEER
1S -
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts FI23| e ATREERNE
for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for FHERVBERERANEE
the financial guarantee contracts. [B B o o
As at 31 December 2022 R-B_—_%+”"A=+—8H
12-month ECLs
12f88 Lifetime ECLs
RHGEEER FHENNENGEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E ] 1 BB LAz L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARRTTR ABETTR ABRTT ARRTTR ABRTT
Trade receivables EWE 5308 - - - 37,679 37,679
Contract assets RRAE - - - 14,478 14,478
Other receivables EfEkER 1,275 - - - 1,275
Bank balances BT 1,202,696 - - - 1,202,696
1,203,971 - - 52,157 1,256,128
As at 31 December 2021 RN=8==%F=f=F—F
12-month ECLs
12(8A Lifetime ECLs
BHEEER FERNEREEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RE FRE E=RE A RS &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Trade receivables N8 5308 - - - 2,612 2,612
Contract assets AREE - - - 4313 4313
Bank balances i 1,202,060 - - 1,222,060
1,222,060 - - 6,925 1,228,985
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31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

a)

Credit risk (Continued)

)

Trade receivables and contract assets

In respect of trade receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. The Group generally allows credit
period ranging from 0 to 180 days to its trade
customers. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer.
Taking into account the creditworthiness of the
Group’s customers, the credit risk measures
and the historical levels of the bad debts, the
directors of the Company consider that such
concentration of credit risk would result in
significant credit default exposure to the Group.
At the end of the reporting period, 32.5%
(2021: 0%) and 100% (2021: 100%) of trade
receivables were due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers,
respectively, arising from EP products and
equipment segment.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position after deducting any
impairment loss.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
did not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

31. TREREERTMTAY

D¥E (&)
a) fFERRE(H)
) EREZIEREFREE

REKESZBERAR
BEMmMS  AEEHEB
k—FLBEUNLEEZ
FTeEEFERNETEE
T ZETHEER
R 2 AR
20 Bk & IR B 2 fE T A
h B EBREFETE
BRHTE 2 & B R
B AEB—MHETHE
S5EFP0E180EMEE
H o E—RBERT > K
SETeERPEIK
e

MEWE HFHEMmMSE
AEBZEZEERBREE
SEEFZEZERNELR
T - ZEIAEE
BEFEZEZE  EFERAR
e &8 2 ER K
T ARREZRE
hEEREERRSE
AEEBBEXEAEER
REK - RIFEHK -
REBRERREZED
H2AEBREATF K
AREF D BIhEYE
SEIE32.5% (T ——
F 1 0%) X100% (=F
——% : 100%) °

RmEERBREMERE
AR EBIRR&A MBS
AARTEREREE
MAREE -

NRZEBE_—_FR T
—F+=-_A=+—8 "
ANEEWEREHREMT
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

a) Credit risk (Continued)

)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continueq)

The Group reassesses lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets under HKFRS 9
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for significant increase in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring. The ECLs on trade
receivables and contract assets are assessed
for debtors individually or collectively using a
provision matrix. As part of the Group’s credit
risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess with the impairment loss
because these customers consist of a large
number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
estimated loss rates are estimated on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

The following table provides information about
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs
for trade receivables and contract assets as at
31 December 2022 and 2021:

Current (not yet past due) BNER (RaH)
Less than 6 months past due @ PR6fEA
More than 6 months but less than
1 year past due BEGME A LB E

Total #i

3. TRIAREEREMIAZ

/_\:FE (nﬁ)

a) fFERRE(H)

J

Expected
loss rate

RRERE

5.83%
9.39%

57.19%

EREGHELRE FE
E (&)

NEBIREBEEE MKW
%ﬁﬂ'J%Q?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%
EWESHRERARE
FE’J@Z“H;@E’]TEHJ? =B
BiE o R
QEE"J—_[AE/EEWHKAAXFFEE
i'jJDuﬂmE%’JE’JﬂTEEE
BoRUWESREBERE
@ﬁff‘%ﬂ’\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁf@ﬁﬁ
B@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@&%ﬁfx
A 17 8 Bl 3k 2 @ &7
fii o T’EF%ZKEIEE
BREEN R AEH
FREB AN RE A
MEERE - AR Z
EEXFREREAAR
RBREFREOER - MZ
ZRBFBAKREFRR
Ba /g fﬂ%%(?i < 78
HIFRIER)RE ) o fh At
?éfﬁﬁzfiﬁ&‘/\ﬁﬁﬁi
HOEBEERMSED
EfEEt > WRBAMNE
8% R A %S o B A] &
gﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ%’l‘iﬁ*ﬁr?ﬁﬂﬁﬁ

TREER-_Z__F

MZZT-_—F+ZH=

T—HBEHEAREERFEE

[ fe K2 e W B 5 RRIE K

GREEZEBEEREE
BER

31 December 2022
ZB_F+ZA=+-H

Gross  Impairment

carrying loss

amount  allowances

HIEEE HEGREE

RMB’000 RMB’000

UN: 5w AEWTR

14,478 846

34,479 3,237

3,200 1,830

52,157 5,913
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BE-—T-——

=

31.

Fr+-A=1T—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

a)

Credit risk (Continued)

)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continueq)

Current (not yet past due) HE ki)
Less than 6 months past due BHEDR6(EA

Total 8

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 2 years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables and contract assets are set
out in note 17.

Bank balances

The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk
by placing deposits with financial institutions
with established credit rating. Given the high
credit ratings of the banks, the management
does not expect any counterparty to fail to
meet its obligations.

31.

TRAREEREMIAZ
D¥E (&)

a) fFERRE(H)
) EBRESHEREFE

E (&)
31 December 2021
“Z-—-%+-A=+—H
Gross Impairment
Expected carrying loss
loss rate amount allowances

RHEREEX EERE EEERE

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTL  ARBTR

12.68% 4,313 547
5.71% 2,612 149
6,925 696

BB EXZBE2FN
EREBERERE - 1t
FHXRTDR/REREA (B
FHBECHEHRKRSE) &
EARRER - BRI
K 75 5 B ¥ e R IR TR
HEEANKBERRZ
BRMMARE -

B % L B 2
ESHERARAEE
£ EERRZE—5
EEHEHAIE7 -

i) RITAAER

AEBREENRRYT
B & BB TR ARK
HiEERR - ERRT
FEENRRY  EEE
BEMAEHBEHEF IR
BEEITEEZBR -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to corporate bonds with fixed interest rate
(see note 21). The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider repayment of the corporate
bonds when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates

primarily to variable-rates of bank balances.

The Group does not anticipate significant interest
rate risk because the interest rates of these balances
are not expected to change significantly.

i) Interest rate profile

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

31. TREREERTMTAY

D¥E (&)

b)

N =E R

AEEEBREBETEMNEQE
&5 (RaE21) R FER
KRR - EEEEENRRR
I #% 17 T8 B I e EE KR = [ e
BEREERRES

AEBZ RS RRBAEARE
EBRARGTEBIDHAEE
7 -

AEBEYEBHPEKRF KR
% ARZREEHROFREGT
BEREIL -

) FEEER

The following table details the interest rate TRFMLRNEERT
profile of the Group’s variable-rate bank HRZIZEAERHE
balances at the end of the reporting period: HAZR B =45, -
2022 2021
- S —E-—F
Effective Effective
interest rate RMB’000 interest rate RMB’000
ERfE  ARRTR ERFIX  ARBTn
Bank balances RITE BR 0%-0.3% 1,202,696 0%-0.3% 1,222,060
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31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

1)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2022, it is estimated that
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group’s loss after tax and increase/decrease
the Group’s retained profits by approximately
RMB9,017,000 (2021: increase/decrease the
Group’s profit after tax and increase/decrease
the Group’s retained profit by RMB9,164,000).
Other components of equity would not be
affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative
financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates
over the period until the end of the next
reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for year 2021.

3. sRlEREEREMITAY
~¥E (&)

b)

A=k (4)

1)

BB ST

R_F__F+-A=
+—B & R
FEMEHGHTEL
BRT FIRXRE -
F /T E& 100 {8 2 2 4%
SAKREZBHRER
WA EMEAEE
1R 28 % M2 Om A
M AK®9,017,0007T
B2 R EE R,
WL RAEERE B
Fgm/ mOARE
9,164,0007T) ° 2
H i aon T a %Al x
BEIHE -

Ll R E T TR
Fl=EEE RRE R
BE - WEEARZAB
HEE2HFTESRMT
BAARZ ZAEER -
100 1/ E B 2 12 1@ ok Bk i@
REREREET E®R
SHRPRANERZAE
A BE BB T E 2 BT 1A o
ZE - FEWM DR
MR By BT o



31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31.
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset as they fall due. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from banks to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Trade and other payables

Corporate bonds

Lease liabilities

Annual Report 2022
T CFFR
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e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

TREAREEREMIAZ
~¥E (&)

c) RBEZER

mEBETRREAEERE
TEBUARESRXNIT AR HEM
CREEAEIBzEMEE
ERRBINANER - N&E
B BRASERERREG B
WZRBDESHFRLEBTE
R 2B/ NERAEE
R R R RER
THEHERRERAES - RN
HERRRERZADHEST
Sk o

TRAEFIAEB ZFTES
BAEERREHRZHBTER
HABR o b I ER A RFTE KRR
AEERE (BRRESRM
R (HMAFBME - BIER
BERARNRITHNE)FEZ
B RAEE AT g A
R &RFAHEE -

2022
—EZC
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ARMERBAREEE
More than  More than
Within one one year  two years
year or but less than but less than
Carrying ondemand twoyears five years Over five
amount —FRE BE-FE BEREFER years Total
REE BEKEE PREE PREE il o1
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TRE ARBTR AR®TRT AR®TR AR®TRT AR®TR
ETESRMAR
R E 5 R A 5B 80,943 80,943 - - - 80,943
NAlEH 47,540 2,677 27,926 4,915 21,916 57,434
HERR 354 357 - - - 357
128,837 83,977 27,926 4,915 21,916 138,734
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31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

3. sRlEREEREMITAY
~¥E (&)

c)

2021

RBES @ (&)

—E-—F

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
BRAEARBRRSTE

More than More than
Within one one year two years
year or but less than  but less than
Carrying  on demand two years five years Over five
amount —FRNg  BE—FE BAWRFE years Total
KEE REREE NS PRAF HBBAF ek
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETr ARETT ARETRT ARETx
Non-derivative financial FiiEEMAR
liabilities
Trade and other payables BT 5 KBt 30E 55,084 55,084 - = = 55,084
Corporate bonds NAlEH 44,284 47,553 1,162 5,016 5,302 59,033
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,075 808 337 - = 1,145
100,443 103,445 1,499 5,016 5,302 115,262
d) Currency risk d E¥ER
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries transact in RMB, AEENFEMBATIUAAR
and the Company and other subsidiaries mainly WHETR S mARE REAM
transact in HK$. Management considers the Group’s MEB AR EZLABE TEITR
exposure to currency risk is not significant. 5o MEBBRE  KAEBFT
HENEERBRIETERX -
e) Estimation of fair values e) AFEMEE
Financial assets and financial liabilities TEREERSREE

For financial assets and financial liabilities that
are liquid or having a short-term maturity, it is
assumed that the carrying amounts approximate
their fair values. The assumption is applied to trade
receivables, other receivables, contract assets, trade
and other payables, and bank balances without a
specific maturity. For other financial instruments
(including corporate bonds), the fair values are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

mBMRINARE L eMEE
rkemAENREREKREER
RHERE - ZBRFZEBNE
RER A ZEIKE S A
Hipe A - AREE - &
NE S KREMRIEKRRITE
e ZENEMBERTA (B
NAEMESR) - ERFETIRE
AREERIETE W ARERIR
ERENTAEE -
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if revision affects both current and
future periods.

/) Estimation of impairment of frade rece/vables
and contract assets

The Group estimates the loss allowances
for trade receivables and contract assets by
assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of
estimates and judgements. ECLs are based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions
at the end of reporting period. Where the
estimation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will affect the carrying
amounts of trade receivables and contract
assets and thus the impairment loss in the
period in which such estimate is changed. The
Group keeps assessing the expected credit
loss of trade receivables and contract assets
during their expected lives. As at 31 December
2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables
and contract assets was approximately
RMB32,612,000 (2021: RMB2,463,000) and
RMB13,632,000 (2021: RMBS3,766,000).
Details of the impairment of trade receivables
are disclosed in notes 17 and 31(a).

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a)

b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
/) Warranty provisions

The Group does not make provision for product
warranties arising from sales of EP products
and equipment, taking into account the Group’s
recent claim experience and past experience of
the level of repairs. In addition, the Group has
also received product warranties in respect of
those products and equipment supplied from
its suppliers, and the scope of the product
warranties (including warranty periods) are
the same as those the Group offered to its
customers. It is not indicative of future claims
that it will receive in respect of past sales.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets
and liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the
effects of uncertain future events on those assets
and liabilities at the end of each reporting period.
These estimates involve assumptions about such
items as cash flows and discount rates used. The
Group’s estimates and assumptions are based on
historical experience and expectations of future
events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

/) /ncome taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong
Kong and various taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
provision for taxation. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional tax
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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e B RRHEE

32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

)

Withholding tax on the distributable profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC

On 16 March 2007, National People’s Congress
approved the New EIT Laws which was
effective from 1 January 2008. According to
the relevant regulations of the New EIT Laws,
when a foreign investment enterprise distributes
dividends out of the profits earned from 1
January 2008 onwards to its foreign investors,
they are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax. The applicable income tax rate varies with
the origin of the overseas investors.

The Group’s determination as to whether to
accrue for withholding tax from distribution
of dividends from its subsidiaries established
in the PRC according to the relevant tax law
and regulations is subject to judgement on
the timing of the payment of the dividends.
The estimation process is highly based on
assumptions, which are influenced by projected
future market and economic conditions and
future financing requirements of the Group, and
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute dividends in the foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

33. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables
Corporate bonds
Lease liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Corporate bonds
Lease liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE
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EREEE
RETB AR ZE

REEE
Hofth & Y 3R
& W2 Y /B8 12 R 3RIR
e RIRITREER

mERR
HoAth &+ 3R
NGIIEES
HERAE

RENRERE

HRERTDAR

FREDRAR
RANES
HEAE

RESE

B % B ik 0l
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&
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33. XARBEMBMREK

2022 2021

- —E %

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®TT ARBFIT
42 66

15 360 1,048
16 391,702 358,508
392,104 359,622

248 216

280,385 256,596

366 182

280,999 256,994

54,839 37,906

21 - 25,522
20 354 751
55,193 64,179

225,806 192,815

617,910 552,437

21 47,540 18,762
20 - 324
47,540 19,086

570,370 533,351

23 78,073 78,073
24 492,297 455,278
570,370 533,351
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_ZT__F+_A=+—HIFE

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 34. RIS EEIFFIELE BB YR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details the changes in the Group’s TRHAIIAEEREETBMELER
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both BExES  RERSLKIFRSE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from o omMEEDMELAGERES
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, B 2R E EEIARBERE
or future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated BERGEHERERIEARE
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing Eib&iﬂ’]iﬁimb; °
activities.
Amount due to a Lease Corporate
related company liabilities bonds Total
B RHLRARE HEAE NG a8
(Note 19(6)) (Note 20) (Note 21)
(li#190)) (it20) (Hizo1)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABRBTR ABBTR ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2021 W=E_—%-f-H 24,503 1,840 45,563 71,906
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSRECED:
Advance from a related company REBBNE 2B 2,500 - - 12,500
Repayment of advance from a related company fEiEEIE A B2 B3k (1,130) = = (1,130)
Settlement of lease liabiltties REREAR = (796) - (796)
Interests paid on corporate bonds ERAREFHE = - (2,688) (2,688)
Direct cost incurred for renewal of corporate ~ ARIEHEHE £ 2 BEHKA
bonds - (87) (87)
Total changes from financing cash flows HERSNE/ BDEE 11,370 (796) (2,775) 7,799
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates ~ MEER 28 52 (863) 42) (1,300) (2,205)
Other changes: HftheE
Effective interest expenses BHMERR = 73 2,796 2,869
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 ~ RM=Z=—%+-f=1—H
k=E-__F-f-H 35,010 1,075 44,284 80,369
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSRECED:
Advance from a related company REBHAF L BH 13,517 - - 13,517
Repayment of advance from a related REFHAT BN
company (625) - - (625)
Settlement of lease liabilities BEREARE - (821) - (821)
Redemption of corporate bonds RN - - (855) (855)
Interests paid on corporate bonds BRAREFHE - - 2,772) 2.772)
Total changes from financing cash flow BERSTE BT 12,892 (821) (3,627) 8,444
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates ~ MEER2E) 7 5/& 3,811 64 4,064 7,939
Other changes: Aftrew:
Effective interest expenses BRFIBRY - 36 2,819 2,855
At 31 December 2022 R_EBZ_§+_A=+-H 51,713 354 47,540 99,607
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-—F+_A=+—HILFE

35.

36.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Praise
Fortune Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. This entity does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following significant events took place subsequent to
31 December 2022:

Proposed acquisition of 99.99% of the issued share
capital in Mayee International Holdings Limited
(“Mayee International”)

On 7 November 2018 and 30 January 2019, the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement,
and a supplemental sale and purchase agreement
(the “Acquisition Agreement”), respectively, with an
independent third party, Zhongying International Limited
(“Zhongying”), pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to acquire, and Zhongying has
conditionally agreed to sell 99.99% of the issued share
capital of Mayee International at a total consideration of
approximately HK$1,253,220,000. The total consideration
will be settled by the Company through payment of cash
amounting to approximately HK$1,013,220,000 and
issuance of convertible bonds with a principal amount of
HK$240,000,000. Mayee International and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property management and
leasing of shops in a shopping mall located in Kunming,
Yunnan, the PRC. This proposed acquisition constitutes
a very substantial acquisition under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules and is therefore subject to the shareholders’
approval at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company.

On 28 June 2019, the Company and Zhongying entered
into the second supplemental agreement to extend the
date for fulfillment of the conditions precedent set out in
the Acquisition Agreement to 27 June 2020.

On 31 August 2020, the Company and Zhongying entered
into the third supplemental agreement to extend the date
for fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out in the
Acquisition Agreement to 30 September 2021.

35.

36.

BEERGAEST

ARAREERE  AEEBZE#E
M EH T AR EBREZRES
A 2 A Rl Praise Fortune
Limited » ZE B MERTHAR
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THEREFEIR T - —_F+=
B=+—H1#%%4 :
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(M Z1REIFR 1) 99.99% B TR A
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

On 31 March 2021, the Company and Zhongying entered
into the fourth supplemental agreement to extend the date
for fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out in the
Acquisition Agreement to 30 September 2022.

On 30 September 2022, the Company required more
time to further negotiate the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement due to decline in financial performance of
Mayee International. The despatch of the circular will be
further postponed to a date on or before 30 April 2023.

Further details of this proposed acquisition are set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 5 December
2018, 30 January 2019, 29 April 2019, 28 June 2019, 30
September 2019, 29 November 2019, 28 February 2020,
31 August 2020, 31 March 2021 and 30 September 2022
respectively.

Up to the date of this report, the conditions precedent
in the Acquisition Agreement have not yet been fulfilled.
Accordingly, the proposed acquisition has not yet been
completed.

36.

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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37. CHEMERBE-T=_
TZA=1+T—BLEFEERX
ERZABFTA - FEA KR
BowgEwE

37. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated HEZSGReWBHRERAERL -
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of BEAEMASERME TREE

amendments, new standards and interpretations which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2022
and which have not been adopted in these consolidated
financial statements. These include the following which

—Eo—fF+=

A=+—BLFE

rﬁ*ixﬁlﬁlﬂﬁ/\ﬁt—rﬁéﬁﬁ%iﬁ

RPERMWETA

& Bl K

- EEP@%EDATﬂﬁﬁﬁiZK%Iﬁ

may be relevant to the Group. & o
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets BERTHHRE KREEREBE
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its AR 1055 RNAElE ERHE
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture® REBGE MeEELE
ERIFE285%  POEES
(BETAN)
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and BAMBmE SEEADNCZHEE
HKFRS 16 Leaseback? AR 1655 B1E?
CCHEN)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' EXRTHHRE RERER
ERIEA75
Amendments to Insurance Contracts’ BERTHHRE RERER
HKFRS 17 HERIE17 55
CCHEN)
Amendments to Initial Application of HKFRS 17 BEXRGHHRE BRERAEEHE
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 ERFEI7H  WEEAFE17HR
({BFIA) MEBIBRE
SR QU
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as BEREEER BELSEAREN
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current? F19% (185] 3'5/;@)]2
)
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with BEREEIER] S REZIERE)
HKAS 1 Covenants? F1m(BE]  AfE?
)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting BEREEER SEERZHEE
and HKFRS Practice Policies! F19% (185]
Statement 2 ) REB
B sk 4
RIYEZE %R
FE25
Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting BEREEER SEHhFTZEE
Estimates! F85% (185
)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets BEREEER HE-QIZFEEC
and Liabilities arising from a F125% (& BE KRB ERH
Single Transaction' HEN), REERI TR



Annual Report 2022
T CFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(Continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

S No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments are expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

e B RRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Financial Summary

MBEE

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

TERREAEEBELAMBFREZGFEE
BAEAEERAEME -

mEXE

For the year ended 31 December
B8E+-A=1+—HL=EE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B T ZZZTF —T-NEFE ZT-N\HF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AER®TRT AREBTIT AREBTLT ARBTLT ARBTIT
Continuing operations: BEEERE:
Revenue WA 155,568 38,158 39,388 79,802 162,188
Profit/(loss) before taxation B ATHEF /(EiE) 156 8,300 (29,347) (56,227) (14,237)
Income tax expenses FIsBAx (1,055) - - (2,397) (3,116)
(Loss)/profit for the year from 4 AR B 45 & 48 & % 7%
continuing operations 2 (B18),/ &H (899) 8,300 (29,347) (58,624) (17,353)
Discontinued operation: B ILIES¥E :
Loss for the year from FARRBELRLE
discontinued operations A ) iF - - - - (2,004)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER), & (899) 8,300 (29,347) (58,624) (19,357)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HReEEEHRSE
As at 31 December
R+=B=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TR e T I
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 2,130 1,541 3,419 3,106 7,112
Total current assets MENEERE 1,250,479 1,228,519 1,261,608 1,257,956 1,284,006
Total assets BERE 1,252,609 1,230,060 1,265,022 1,261,062 1,291,118
Total liabilities afErE (131,978)  (100,443)  (145,934)  (116,891) (87,098)
Net assets BEFE 1,120,631 1,129,617 1,119,088 1,144,171 1,204,020
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